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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Our fiscal year ends on December 31. We file annual, quarterly and special
reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information
we file at the SEC's public reference rooms in Washington, D.C., New York, New
York, and Chicago, Illinois. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the public reference rooms. Our SEC filings are also available

to the public from commercial document retrieval services and on the web site
maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The documents listed below are incorporated by reference into this prospectus
and all documents that we file as required by Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 after the date of this prospectus will be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into this prospectus and to be a part
hereof from the date of filing of such documents:

. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998;
. Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1999;
. Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999;

. Our Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 24, 1999 and filed on
August 27, 1999;

. Our Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 24, 1999 and filed on August
30, 1999;

. Our Current Report on Form 8-K/A dated August 24, 1999 and filed on
September 21, 1999;

. Our Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 18, 1999 and filed on
October 22, 1999; and

. The description of our common stock, par value $.0001 per share,
contained in our Registration Statement on Form 8-A (Registration
No. 000-29277), filed with the SEC on May 18, 1998.

We will provide you, without charge, with a copy of any and all of the
information (including exhibits) this prospectus incorporates by reference.
Please direct all requests for this information, as well as any requests for
additional information about us, to:

Arthur G. Walsh, Jr.
Corporate Secretary
Clarus Corporation
3970 Johns Creek Court
Suwanee, Georgia 30024
Telephone: (770) 291-3905
Fax: (770) 291-3904
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SUMMARY

Because this is a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be
important to you. You should read the entire prospectus carefully before you
decide to purchase our common stock.

Clarus Corporation

We develop, market, and support business-to-business ("B2B") electronic commerce
applications. Our applications enable organizations to gain and improve control

of operational resources, the non-production goods and services that are vital

to the operation of every company, by leveraging Web commerce technology to
connect large populations of frontline employees.

Our Clarus(TM) Commerce line of products is a Web-based class of systems that
analysts have termed Business Resource Management. Our entire Clarus(TM) line of
products is based on a flexible, open architecture which allows for the leverage

of leading commerce technologies and industry standards such as the Microsoft
Commerce platform, Biztalk and XML.

We offer electronic commerce solutions and applications that allow companies to
leverage the technology of the Internet to automate business processes and
proactively manage business resources. Our solutions are designed to provide a
closed-loop management process that enables companies to plan, control, and
analyze their operational resources in a real-time manner. Our solutions are
designed to provide open enterprise integration by employing a message-based
integration layer between our operational resource systems, our analysis and
control systems, and traditional enterprise resource planning solutions. Our
solutions are also designed with Clarus View, a personalized real-time view of
the business operating environment that facilitates proactive control.

In addition, we provide dedicated implementation services as an integral part of
our solution, and believe that these services result in a high level of customer
satisfaction, strong customer references and long-term relationships. We provide
ongoing support services to assist customers in maintaining and updating their
systems, training their employees and adding functionality as the customers'
businesses grow and their requirements change.

Our objective is to be a leading provider of electronic commerce resources
applications. The key elements of our strategy are:

leveraging partner relationships to distribute our Clarus Commerce line
of products through expanded sales and marketing channels;

expanding our electronic commerce applications;
extending our technology leadership; and
leveraging our installed customer base.

We license our products and services through multiple partnership and co-
marketing arrangements and a direct sales force in the United States and Canada.
Our flagship product, Clarus eProcurement, is being used at more than 23 sites
for customers including Mastercard International, MetLife, First Data
Corporation and Parsons Brinckerhoff, with planned deployment to more than
130,000 employees.

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1991. On May 26, 1998, we completed an
initial public offering of our common stock and sold 2.5 million shares which
resulted in net proceeds of approximately $22.0 million. On November 6, 1998, we
acquired ELEKOM Corporation in a merger. On October 18, 1999, we sold
substantially all of our traditional financial and human resource business for a
total of approximately $17 million to Geac Computer Systems, Inc. and Geac
Canada Limited (collectively "Geac"). Geac acquired the products, manufacturing
assets, intellectual property and employees of our traditional financial and

human resources software business. Since the closing of the sale to Geac we have
focused exclusively on our business plans for delivering B2B electronic commerce
products. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this prospectus

to "us" or "we" refer to Clarus Corporation.



The Offering

A stockholder is offering a total of 101,312 shares of our common stock for
resale. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of these shares of
common stock. You should read the Risk Factors section, beginning on page 5, as
well as the other cautionary statements throughout the entire prospectus to

ensure that you understand the risks associated with an investment in our common
stock before purchasing any shares.

-

Summary Consolidated Financial Data
(In thousands, except per share data)

We are providing the following information to aid you in your analysis of our
financial condition. We obtained this information from audited financial
statements prepared by our auditors, Arthur Andersen LLP, for 1994 through 1998
and from unaudited financial statements prepared by management as of and for the
six months ended June 30, 1999.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Year ended December 31, Six Months
Ended

1994 1995 1996 1997 1998  June 30, 1999
<S> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C>
Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues...........c..cu........ $3,821 $8,190 $13,056 $25,988 $41,640 $22,680
Operating 10SS........ccccerueneeee. (5,157) (7,987) (7,658) (3,358) (11,078) (3,149)
Net 10SS.c.eeiirerenieieeene (5,140) (8,049) (7.879) (4,110) (10,702) (2,972)
Loss per common share:
BasiC..ccoooveieiieniniee (5.65) (6.19) (5.74) (2.97) (1.70) (0.27)
Diluted.......cccooevvieveiennns (5.65) (6.19) (5.74) (2.97) (1.70) (0.27)

Weighted average common
Shares outstanding:

BasiC....coooovvieeiiiieieen 910 1,300 1,373 1,386 6,311 10,968
Diluted.....c..coovevvevvenenne. 910 1,300 1,373 1,386 6,311 10,968
</TABLE>
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
At
June 30,
1999

Balance Sheet Data:
<S>

Cash and cash equIValents........c.ccevveereriiireiieeree e
Working capital.........ccocoveiiiiiiiieieeeee e
TOtAL ASSELS.....euveverrieeriteiietentcertee ettt ettt ettt enen
Long-term debt, net of current portion...
Total stockholders' equity...........ccccuee....
</TABLE>

Summary Selected Pro Forma Financial Data

We closed the sale of our financial and human resources business and

technologies to Geac and Geac Canada on October 18, 1999. The proforma condensed
combined balance sheet data has been prepared as if the sale had been

consummated on June 30, 1999. The pro forma condensed combined statements of
operations data have been prepared as if the sale had been consummated at the
beginning of the periods presented. The pro forma information does not purport

to represent what our results of operation actually would have been if the sale

had occurred on or for the periods presented:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
For The
Year Ended At or For The



December 31,  Six Months Ended
1998 June 30, 1999

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

<S> <C> <C>
Pro forma statement of operations data:
Total revenues...........cooevveveeveenvenenen. $ 862 $4,098
Operating loss... (12,148) (6,780)
Net loss (11,512) (6,603)
Basic and diluted net loss per share(1)......... (1.82) (0.60)
Weighted average common shares outstanding...... 6,311 10,968
Pro forma balance sheet data:
Working capital (deficit)..........cooveveuene. $22,423
Total asSets.....ccoeevvevveeveeereeeeennen. 39,099
Stockholders' equity (deficit).................. 32,306

</TABLE>

The summary selected pro forma information gives effect to the sale and assumes
the receipt of $17.1 million in cash. You should not rely on the pro forma
information as being indicative of the historical results that would have

resulted if the sale had occurred as of the periods presented or the future

results we will experience after the sale, nor should you rely on the six month
information as being indicative of results we expect for the entire year.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements, as defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including or related to our
future results, including certain projections and business trends.

These and other statements, which are not historical facts, are based largely on
management's current expectations and assumptions and are subject to a number of
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially

from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements. These risks and
uncertainties include, among others, the risks and uncertainties described in

"Risk Factors," beginning on page 5. Assumptions related to forward-looking
statements include that we will continue to price and market our products
competitively; that competitive conditions within our markets will not change
materially or adversely; and that the demand for our products will remain

strong; and that we will retain key personnel.

Assumptions relating to forward-looking statements involve judgments with
respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market
conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or

impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. When
used in this prospectus, the words "estimate," "project,” "intend," "believe"

and "expect" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. Although we believe that assumptions underlying the forward-looking
statements are reasonable, any of the assumptions could prove inaccurate and,
therefore, there can be no assurance that the results contemplated by the
forward-looking statement will be realized. Management decisions are subjective
in many respects and susceptible to interpretations and periodic revisions based
on actual experience and business developments, the impact of which may cause us
to alter our business strategy or capital expenditure plans which may, in turn,
affect our results of operations. In light of the significant uncertainties

inherent in the forward-looking information included in this prospectus, the
inclusion of such information should not be regarded as our representation that
we will achieve any strategy, objectives or other plans. The forward-looking
statements contained in this prospectus speak only as of the date of this
prospectus as stated on the front cover, and we have no obligation to update
publicly or revise any of these forward-looking statements.

Trademarks

Clarus(TM) is our trademark. All other trademarks and registered trademarks used
in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners.

A4-

RISK FACTORS



In addition to the other information in this prospectus, you should
consider carefully the following risk factors.

We have a history of operating losses and operating losses may continue.

We have incurred significant net losses in each year since our formation.
The continuation of such losses may adversely affect the market price of our
common stock. As of June 30, 1999, we had an accumulated deficit of
approximately $41.7 million. These losses have occurred, in part, because of the
substantial costs we incurred to develop our products, expand our product
research, and hire and train our direct sales force. We may not be able to
generate the substantial additional growth in revenues that will be necessary to
sustain profitability.

We may not be successful in developing our new products.

Our future performance will also depend in part on whether we are
successful in developing, introducing and gaining market acceptance of new and
enhanced products, including our Clarus Commerce suite of products. On October
18, 1999, we sold substantially all of the assets of our financial and human
resources software business and technologies to Geac Computer Systems, Inc. and
Geac Canada Limited. Our financial and human resources software business has
historically been our primary business. If we do not successfully develop, sell,
and support our electronic commerce products in an effective manner, we will
suffer a material and adverse impact to our business, operating results and
financial condition.

Our electronic procurement business has considerable risks.

Our prospects of success with our electronic commerce business must be
considered in light of the considerable risks, expenses, and difficulties
frequently encountered by companies in their early stage of development,
particularly technology-based companies operating in unproven markets with
unproven products. We expect to incur substantial additional costs to complete
the development of the Clarus Commerce suite of products, and to market and
support this product. Our business strategy to focus on our electronic commerce
products and technologies may not achieve the desired returns.

Our common stock has been publicly traded only since May 1998, and our common
stock has been highly volatile since our initial public offering.

Prior to May 1998, there was no public market for the shares of our common
stock. An active public market for the shares of our common stock may not be
sustained. The market price of the shares of our common stock has been, and may
continue to be, highly volatile. The market price could be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to variations in results of operations, announcements
of technological innovations of our new products or new products of our
competitors, changes in our financial estimates,
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changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or other events or

factors. In addition, the financial markets have experienced significant price
and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of
equity securities of many high technology companies. These fluctuations often
have been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies or have
resulted from the failure of the operating results of such companies to meet
market expectations in a particular quarter. Additionally, broad market
fluctuations or any failure of our operating results in a particular quarter to
meet market expectations may adversely affect the market price of the shares of
our common stock.

We are at risk of securities class action litigation due to our expected stock
volatility.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a
company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been
instituted against such a company. Any securities litigation involving us could
result in substantial costs and a diversion of management's attention and
resources. The market price of our common stock has declined and has been
highly volatile since our initial public offering in May, 1998.



We may need to raise additional capital that may not be available.

We may need to raise additional funds and we cannot be certain that we will
be able to obtain additional financing on favorable terms, if at all. If we
cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, if and when needed, we may not be able
to develop or enhance our products and services, take advantage of future
opportunities, grow our business or respond to competitive pressures or
unanticipated requirements, which would seriously harm our business. In
addition, Geac may withhold a portion of the purchase price for our human
resources and financial software business under certain circumstances. If Geac
withholds such funds, we will need to raise additional capital sooner than
anticipated.

We expect to continue to experience significant fluctuations in quarterly
operating results.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, significant
fluctuations in quarterly operating results caused by many factors, including,
but not limited to:

. changes in the demand for our products;
. the timing, composition, and size of orders from our customers;
. spending patterns and budgetary resources of our customers;
. our success in generating new customers;
. a general economic downturn caused by the Year 2000;
. introductions or enhancements of our products;
-6-
. changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

. our ability to anticipate and adapt effectively to developing markets
and rapidly changing technologies;

. our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel;

. the publication of opinions or reports about us and our products, or
our competitors and their products, by industry analysts, or others;

. unforeseen events affecting Internet-based, B2B electronic commerce;
and

. changes in general economic conditions.

The loss of a large sale, or the deferral of a large sale to a subsequent
quarter, could have a material, adverse effect on our current quarter operating
results and could cause significant fluctuations in revenues and earnings from
quarter to quarter. Additionally, because a smaller percentage of our revenues
flow from maintenance contracts than many software companies with a longer
history of operations, we do not have a significant ongoing revenue stream that
could mitigate quarterly fluctuations in operating results.

Consistent with software industry practice, we typically ship our software
promptly following receipt of a firm order. As a result, quarterly sales and
operating results depend generally on the volume and timing of orders received
within the quarter, all of which are difficult to forecast and manage. Our
expense levels are based in part on our expectations of future orders and sales.
A substantial portion of our operating expenses are related to personnel,
facilities, and sales and marketing programs. This level of spending for such
expenses cannot be adjusted quickly and is therefore relatively fixed in the
near term. Accordingly, any significant shortfall in demand for our products in
relation to our expectations would have an immediate and material adverse
financial effect on us.

Due to all of these factors, we believe that our quarterly operating
results are likely to vary significantly in the future. Therefore, our results
of operations may fall below the expectations of securities analysts and
investors. In such event, or in the event that such result is perceived by



market analysts to have occurred, the trading price of our common stock would
likely be materially adversely affected.

We have limited experience with electronic commerce.

The success of our Clarus Commerce suite of Internet-based computer
software applications, including Clarus eProcurement, depends upon the
development and expansion of the market for Internet-based software
applications, in particular electronic commerce applications. This market is
new and rapidly evolving. The acceptance of electronic commerce generally, and
the Internet specifically, as a forum for corporate procurement is uncertain and
subject to a number of risks. Many significant issues

-

relating to such use of the Internet (including security, reliability, cost,

ease of use, quality of service, and government regulation) remain unresolved
and could delay or prevent the necessary growth of the Internet. If widespread
use of the Internet for commercial transactions does not develop or if the
Internet otherwise does not develop as an effective forum for corporate
procurement, the success of Clarus eProcurement and other Clarus Commerce
products would be materially and adversely affected as well as, potentially, our
overall business, operating results, and financial condition.

The adoption of the Internet for corporate procurement and other commercial
transactions requires acceptance of new ways of transacting business. In
particular, enterprises with established patterns of purchasing goods and
services that have already invested substantial resources in other means of
conducting business and exchanging information may be particularly reluctant to
adopt a new strategy that may make some of their existing personnel and
infrastructure obsolete. Also, the security and privacy concerns of existing and
potential users of Internet-based products and services may impede the growth of
online business generally and the market's acceptance of our products and
services in particular. A functioning market for such products may not emerge
or be sustained. If the market for Internet-based packaged procurement
applications fails to develop or develops more slowly than we anticipate, or if
Clarus eProcurement and any other Internet-based products we develop do not
achieve market acceptance, our business, operating results, and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We utilize a direct sales model.

To date, we have sold our products exclusively through our direct sales
force. We intend to continue to employ a direct sales model. As a consequence,
our ability to achieve significant revenue growth in the future will depend in
part on our success in recruiting, training and retaining additional direct
sales and consulting personnel and on the continuing success of the direct sales
force. Our financial success will depend in part on our direct sales force's
ability to increase sales to levels necessary to sustain profitability. In
order to increase direct sales, we must hire, train and deploy continually
increasing number of staff and sales personnel. We believe that there is a
shortage of, and significant competition for, direct sales personnel with the
advanced sales skills and technological knowledge necessary to sell our
products. Our inability to hire, or failure to retain, competent sales persons
would have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

We are developing indirect distribution channels through third-party
distribution and other channel arrangements. We may not be successful in
developing successful third-party distribution arrangements. Any expansion of
our indirect distribution channels may not result in revenues.

We rely on third-party software.

We maintain a nonexclusive license agreement with Microsoft Corporation
that allows us to integrate our products with their relational database
management systems. If
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our customers experience significant problems with these database management

systems and the database system provider does not correct such problems, our
customers may not be able to continue to use our products. Additionally, our



inability to maintain upward compatibility with a new database management system
release could impact the ability of our customers to use our products.

We have also entered into license agreements with various other third-party
licensors for products which are used as tools with our products, licensed as
complementary products to our products, or integrated with, and enhance, the
operation of our products. These agreements contain customary warranty, software
maintenance, and infringement indemnification terms for the third-party software
that we distribute. In most cases, we depend upon the third party to maintain,
support, update and enhance their products. The failure of any third party to do
so or the loss or inability to maintain any of these software licenses could
result in delays or reductions in product shipments until equivalent software
could be identified, licensed or developed. Any such delays could materially and
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

The expiration or termination of any such licenses or the failure of any of
these third-party licensors to adequately maintain, support or update their
products could delay the shipment of certain of our products until we implement
software offered by alternative sources. Any required replacement licenses could
prove costly. While it may be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain
licenses of alternative or new products relating to one or more of our products,
or relating to current or future technologies, we may not be able to do so on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

Intense competition may reduce demand for our products and cause us to reduce
the prices of our products.

The market for Internet procurement applications, such as Clarus
eProcurement and electronic commerce technology generally, is rapidly evolving
and intensely competitive. Clarus eProcurement is designed to compete with
prepackaged electronic commerce software, software tools for developing commerce
applications, system integrators, and business application software. In
addition, potential customers may elect to develop their own electronic commerce
solutions.

We face competition from other electronic procurement providers. In
addition, we believe we will experience increased competition from travel and
expense software companies.

The majority of our principal current and potential competitors have
significantly greater financial, technical, and marketing resources and name
recognition than we have. In addition, because of relatively low barriers to
entry and relatively high availability of capital in today's markets, new
competitors will likely emerge in our markets. We anticipate facing pricing
pressures and we anticipate that one or more companies in our markets may face
financial failure. In the past, a number of software markets have become
dominated by one or a small number of suppliers, and a small number of
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suppliers or even a single supplier may dominate our markets. If we do not offer
products that continue to achieve success in their respective markets in the

short term, we could suffer a loss in market share and brand name acceptance.
Moreover, any material reduction in the price of our products would negatively
affect margins as a percentage of net revenues and would require us to increase
sales or reduce costs to maintain or increase net income. The occurrence of any
of the foregoing would materially and adversely affect our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. We may not compete effectively in our
markets.

Our markets are characterized by rapid technological change that could render
our products obsolete and unmarketable.

The market for electronic commerce applications is characterized by rapid
technological change, frequent introductions of new and enhanced products, and
changes in customer demands. The introduction of products embodying new
technologies and functionality can render existing products obsolete and
unmarketable. As a result, our future success will depend, in part, upon our
ability to enhance our existing products, develop and introduce new products
that keep pace with technological developments, and satisfy customer
requirements and preferences, while remaining price competitive and achieving
market acceptance. We may not identify new product opportunities and develop and
bring new products to the market in a timely and cost-effective manner.



Products, capabilities or technologies others develop may render our products or
technologies obsolete or noncompetitive or shorten life cycles of our products.
In particular, Clarus eProcurement has a limited product implementation history.
Clarus eProcurement may not be successfully and efficiently developed and
marketed.

We may not be able to introduce enhancements to our products and technologies in
a timely manner.

Because of the potentially rapid changes in the electronic commerce
applications markets, the life cycle of our technology is difficult to estimate.
Our future success will depend upon our ability to address the increasingly
sophisticated needs of our customers by developing and introducing enhancements
to our products and technologies in a timely manner that keeps pace with
technological developments, emerging industry standards and customer
requirements. We may not be successful in developing and marketing enhancements
to existing products or in developing new products that respond to technological
changes or customer requirements. Our failure to develop and introduce new or
enhanced products that offer advanced technology and function adequate to
compete with other available products could materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Any inability to manage our infrastructure may negatively impact our business
and results of operations.

The growth of our electronic procurement business, coupled with the rapid
evolution of our markets and the sale of our financial and human resources
business and products to Geac, has placed, and is likely to continue to place,
strain on our
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administrative, operational and financial resources and internal systems,
procedures and controls. If we are unable to manage future growth effectively,
our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially
and adversely affected.

The loss of services of our personnel could negatively impact our business and
results of operations.

Our performance depends substantially on the performance of our key
management, sales support, marketing and technical personnel, none of whom are
bound by employment agreements to continue in our employ. The loss of the
services of any such personnel could materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition. We do not maintain key
person life insurance policies on any of our employees or consultants.

We believe that there is a shortage of qualified personnel with the skills
required to manage, develop, sell and market electronic commerce applications in
today's highly competitive market. Accordingly, we may not be able to attract,
assimilate, or retain highly qualified personnel. Our inability to attract and
retain necessary personnel could materially and adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.

Clarus eProcurement may not perform adequately in a high volume environment.

Clarus eProcurement was designed for use in environments that include,
without limitation, numerous users, large amounts of catalog and other data, and
potentially high peak transaction volumes. The product may not operate as
designed when deployed. Therefore, when deployed, Clarus eProcurement, and the
third-party computer software and hardware on which Clarus eProcurement depends,
may not operate as designed. Any failure by Clarus eProcurement to perform
adequately in a high volume environment could materially and adversely affect
the market for Clarus eProcurement and our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

In addition, users will depend on Internet service providers, application
service providers, telecommunications companies and the efficient operation of
their computer networks and other computer equipment for operation of Clarus
eProcurement. Each of these has experienced significant outages in the past and
could experience outages, delays and other difficulties due to system failures
unrelated to Clarus eProcurement. Any delays in response time or performance
problems could cause users of Clarus eProcurement to perceive this product as



not functioning properly and therefore cause them to discontinue use of the
product.

The length of our sales cycles may increase in the future, which could
contribute to fluctuations in our operating results.

A customer's decision to license and implement our electronic commerce
applications presents significant enterprise-wide implications for the customer
and involves a substantial commitment by the customer's management and of the
customer's resources. The period of time between initial customer contact and
the customer's
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purchase commitment typically ranges from four to seven months for our
applications. As our products and competing products become increasingly
sophisticated and complex, the length of sales cycles is likely to increase in
the future. Our future sales cycle could extend beyond current levels as a
result of lengthy evaluation and approval processes that typically accompany
major initiatives or capital expenditures, including delays over which we have
little or no control. The loss of individual orders due to increased sales and
evaluation cycles, or delays in the sale of even a limited number of systems,
could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition and, in particular, could contribute to significant
fluctuations in our operating results on a quarterly basis.

Claims against us with respect to our proprietary technology could materially
and adversely impact our business and results of operations.

Our success depends significantly upon our internally-developed proprietary
intellectual property and intellectual property we license from others. We rely
on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secret laws as well as on
confidentiality procedures and licensing arrangements, to establish and protect
our proprietary rights in our products. We currently have no patents or patent
applications pending, and existing trade secret and copyright laws provide only
limited protection of our proprietary rights. We have registered or applied for
registration for certain trademarks. Despite our efforts to protect our
products' respective proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to
copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as
proprietary. Third parties may also independently develop products similar to
our products. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect
proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.

We enter into license agreements with our customers that give the customer
the non-exclusive right to use the object code version of our products. These
license agreements prohibit the customer from disclosing object code to third
parties or reverse-engineering our products and disclosing our confidential
information.

Although we do not believe that we are infringing on the intellectual
property rights of others, claims of infringement are becoming increasingly
common as the software industry matures and as expanded legal protections are
applied to software products. Third parties may assert infringement claims
against us with respect to our proprietary technology and intellectual property
licensed from others. Generally, our third-party software licensors indemnify us
from claims of infringement. However, our licensers may not be able to indemnify
us fully for such claims, if at all. Infringement claims against us could cause
product release delays, require us to redesign our products, or require us to
enter into royalty or license agreements. Such agreements may not be available
on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Furthermore, litigation, regardless of the
outcome, could result in substantial cost to us, divert management attention and
delay or reduce customer purchases. Any infringement claim against us could
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

-12-
Claims against our third-party patent and other intellectual property rights
could cause us to pay additional fees and expenses or to stop selling our

products.

Although we do not believe that our technology infringes any third-party
rights, the cost of defending any such claim, regardless of its validity, can be



substantial and result in significant expenses and diversion of resources, which
could materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition. One
or more of our products may, in the future, be found to infringe the patent
rights of one or more third parties. Because knowledge of a third party's patent
rights is not required for a determination of patent infringement and, because
new patents are being issued by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on an
ongoing basis, this is a continuing risk for us.

In addition to the risk of infringing a third party's patent rights, there
is a risk that our products may infringe upon other intellectual property rights
of third parties (e.g., copyrights, trademark and trade secrets). We have taken
steps to ensure that our employees and contractors have assigned to us all of
their third parties' rights in and to any of the computer software inventions,
and other work product created by third parties for us or on our behalf. In
addition, we have taken steps to ensure that they have the proper licenses for
using and distributing all third-party company software included in or with our
products.

If it is determined that a third party's patent or other intellectual
property rights apply to a product of ours, there is a material risk that the
revenue from the sale of such product will be significantly reduced or
eliminated, as we may have to:

. pay licensing fees or royalties to such third party in order to
continue selling the product;

. incur substantial expense in the modification of the product so that
the third party's patent or other intellectual property rights no
longer apply to such product; or

. stop selling the product.

In addition, if a product is adjudged to be infringing a third party's
patent or other intellectual property rights, then we may be liable to such
third party for actual damages and attorneys' fees. If the infringement of a
third party's patent were found to be willful on our part, then the third party
may be able to recover treble damages, plus attorneys' fees and costs.

Product defects and product liability could cause revenue loss.

As a result of their complexity, software products may contain undetected
errors or failures when first introduced or as new versions are released.
Despite our testing of our software products and their use by current customers,
errors may be found in new applications after commencement of commercial
shipments. If discovered, we cannot
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guarantee that we will successfully correct such errors in a timely manner or at
all. We could, in the future, lose revenues as a result of software errors or
other product defects. Our products and future products are intended for use in
applications that may be critical to a customer's business. As a result, our
customers and potential customers might have a greater sensitivity to product
defects than the market for software generally. The occurrence of errors and
failures in our products could result in the loss of or delay in market
acceptance of our applications, and alleviating such errors and failures could
require us to expend significant capital and other resources. The consequences
of such errors and failures could materially and adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.

Although our license agreements with our customers typically contain
provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential claims, as well as any
liabilities arising from such claims, such provisions may not effectively
protect us against such claims. We do not maintain product liability insurance.
Accordingly, any such claim could materially and adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and financial condition. We provide warranties for our
products after the software is purchased for the period in which the customer
maintains our support of the products. We generally support only current
releases and the immediately prior releases of our products. Our license
agreements generally do not permit product returns by the customer. However,
product returns may increase as a percentage of total revenues in future
periods.



Our customers may not be able to continue to use our products if the relational
database management systems used with our software are not Year 2000 compliant.

Our applications are designed to be Year 2000 compliant. If the relational
database management systems used with our software are not Year 2000 compliant,
our customers may not be able to continue to use our products. We may be exposed
to potential claims resulting from system problems associated with the century
change.

Businesses may not continue to adopt Microsoft technologies or other
technologies that operate with our products.

We have entered into partnership and marketing arrangements with Microsoft.
Our products operate with, or are based on, Microsoft's proprietary products,
such as: Windows NT, Visual C++, Foundation Classes, Active X, OLE/COM, SQL
Server, and Visual Basic. We have designed our products and technology to be
compatible with new developments in Microsoft technology. Businesses may not
continue to adopt such technologies as anticipated, may migrate from older
Microsoft technologies to newer Microsoft technologies, or may adopt alternative
technologies that we do not support.

In the future, a government agency could regulate our business and require us to
make significant expenditures, discontinue certain services or impose taxes on
the sale of our products and services.
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We are not currently subject to direct regulation by any government agency,
other than regulations applicable to businesses generally, and there are
currently few laws or regulations specifically addressing commerce on the
Internet. However, due to the increasing use and growth of the Internet, it is
possible that the federal or state governments may adopt such laws and
regulations covering issues such as user privacy, property ownership, libel,
pricing, and characteristics and quality of products and services. The
imposition upon us of potential statutory liability for information carried on
or disseminated through our application systems could require us to reduce our
exposure to such liability. This could require us to make significant
expenditures or to discontinue certain services. The adoption of any such laws
or regulations also could slow the growth of the Internet, which could in turn
adversely affect our business, operating results, or financial condition.

We do not collect sales or other taxes with respect to goods and services
purchased using our electronic commerce products. However, one or more states
may seek to impose sales tax collection obligations on out-of-state companies
that engage in or facilitate electronic commerce. A number of proposals have
been made at the state and local level that would impose additional taxes on the
sale of goods and services over the Internet. These proposals, if adopted, could
substantially impact the growth of electronic commerce and could adversely
affect our opportunity to derive financial benefit from such activities.
Moreover, a successful assertion by one or more states that we should collect
sales tax or other taxes on the exchange of goods and services through our
electronic commerce products could seriously harm our business.

Legislation limiting further levels of encryption technology will adversely
affect the prospects for Clarus eProcurement.

As a result of customer demand, it is possible that Clarus eProcurement
will be required to incorporate encryption technology, the exportation of which
is regulated by the United States government. Export regulations, either in
their current form or as they may be subsequently enacted, may limit our ability
to distribute our software outside the United States. Moreover, legislation or
regulation may further limit the levels of encryption or authentication
technology that we are able to utilize in our software. Any revocation or
modification of our export authority, unlawful exportation of our software, or
adoption of new legislation or regulation relating to exportation of software
and encryption technology could materially and adversely affect the prospects
for Clarus eProcurement and, potentially, on our business, financial condition,
and operating results as a whole.

A compromise of the encryption methods we employ in Clarus eProcurement could
adversely impact us.

A significant barrier to commerce involving the Internet is the secure



exchange of valued and confidential information over public networks. Clarus
eProcurement relies on encryption and authentication technology to provide the
security and authentication necessary to render secure the exchange of valuable
and confidential information. Advances in computer capabilities, discoveries in
the field of cryptography, or other
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events or developments may result in a compromise of any encryption methods we
employ in Clarus eProcurement to protect transaction data. If any compromise of
security were to occur, it could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and operating results.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of a large number
of additional shares of our common stock in the market.

The market price for our common stock could drop as a result of sales of a
large number of shares of our common stock in the market or the perception that
such sales could occur. The holders of the fully vested stock options granted
during the period of January 1, 1998, through March 31, 1998, have entered into
lock-up agreements restricting the sale or transfer of such shares for a four-
year period following the date of the initial public offering. In connection
with the sale of our financial and human resources business and software to
Geac, we have released certain of our former employees from this lock-up. Of
these shares, 25% were released from such restriction on May 26, 1999. We have
filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 that has made eligible for sale
approximately 3.6 million additional shares issuable upon the exercise of stock
options.

Our Certificate of Incorporation, our Bylaws, and Delaware corporate law contain
provisions that may discourage a takeover of us.

Our Certificate of Incorporation permits us to issue up to 5.0 million
shares of preferred stock and permits our Board of Directors to fix the rights,
preferences, privileges, and restrictions of such shares without any further
vote or action by our stockholders. Although we have no current plans to issue
new shares of preferred stock, the potential issuance of preferred stock may
delay, defer or prevent a change in our control. The potential issuance may also
discourage bids for the common stock at a premium over the market price of the
common stock and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, and
the voting and other rights of, the holders of common stock. Our Board of
Directors is divided into three classes, each of which serves for a staggered
three-year term. This structure may make it more difficult for a third party to
gain control of our Board of Directors. In addition, certain provisions of our
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and of Delaware corporate law may have
an anti-takeover effect and may discourage takeover attempts not first approved
by our Board of Directors, including takeovers which stockholders may deem to be
in their best interest.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds of the sale of shares of common stock offered
by the selling stockholder.

SELLING STOCKHOLDER

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial
ownership of our common stock by the selling stockholder.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Beneficial Ownership Beneficial Ownership
Prior to Offering(1) After Offering(1)
Number of Number of
Shares of Percent of Shares of Percent of
Common Common Sharesto Common Common
Name And Address Stock Stock  besold Stock Stock

<S> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C>




Technology Ventures, L.L.C. 101,312 * 101,312 - --
Two Ravinia Drive, Suite 1090

Atlanta, Georgia 30346

Attn: Joseph S. McCall

* Less than 1%.

</TABLE>
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(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission. In computing the number of shares
beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person,
shares of common stock subject to options held by that person that are
currently exercisable or that are or may become exercisable within 60 days
are deemed outstanding. Such shares, however, are not deemed outstanding
for the purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
Each selling stockholder named in the table has sole voting and investment
power with respect to the shares set forth opposite such selling
stockholder's name.

Technology Ventures, L.L.C. is controlled by Joseph S. McCall. The common stock
was issued to Tech Ventures on February 5, 1998, in connection with our purchase
of Tech Ventures' 20% ownership interest in Clarus Professional Services, L.L.C.
(formerly SQL Financials Services, L.L.C.) and upon the exercise of a warrant in
May 1998. In May 1999, Clarus Professional Services, LLC merged with and into
us. Mr. McCall founded Clarus Corporation in November 1991 and has previously
served as our Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer, and served as a
member of the Board of Directors from 1991 until December 1998. Mr. McCall
founded McCall Consulting Group Inc. in 1986 and he currently serves as its
President.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We currently anticipate that we will retain all future earnings for use in our
business and do not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The payment of any future dividends will be at the
discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things,
our results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions,
contractual restrictions on payment of dividends, if any, legal and regulatory
restrictions on the payment of dividends and other factors our Board of
Directors deems relevant. In addition, our line of credit prohibits the payment
of dividends without prior lender approval.

DILUTION

As of June 30, 1999, our net tangible book value was approximately $8.2
million, or $0.74 per share.

After giving effect to the sale of the 101,312 shares of common stock offered by
this prospectus, our pro forma net tangible book value as of June 30, 1999,
would have been approximately $8.2 million, or $0.74 per share. The following
table illustrates this net tangible book value.

<TABLE>
<S> <C>
Net tangible book value per share at June 30, 1999.................. $0.74
Decrease in pro forma net tangible book value per share, due to the
sale of common stock by stockholders............c.cccceeveenennenne. $0.02
Pro forma net tangible book value per share at June 30, 1999........ $0.72
</TABLE>

As of June 30, 1999, we have outstanding options to acquire a total of

2,448,660 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.67 to $10.00
per share, and a weighted average exercise price of $4.83 per share. The

exercise of a material number of these options would have the effect of

increasing the pro forma net tangible book value dilution per share to new
investors.



PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Our common stock may be sold by the selling stockholder, from time to time while
the Registration Statement to which this prospectus relates is effective, on the
Nasdaq National Market or otherwise at prices and terms prevailing at the time

of sale, at prices and terms related to such prevailing prices and terms, in
negotiated transactions or at fixed prices. Although the selling stockholder has
advised us of the manner in which it currently intends to sell the shares of our
common stock, the selling stockholder may choose to sell all or a portion of

such shares from time to time in any manner described in this prospectus. The
methods by which the selling stockholder may sell its shares of our common stock
include, without limitation:

. ordinary brokerage transactions, which may include long or short sales;

. transactions involving crosses or block trades or any other transactions
permitted by the Nasdaq National Market;

. purchases by a broker or dealer as principal and resale by such broker or
dealer for its account pursuant to this prospectus;
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. "at the market" to or through market makers or into an existing market for
the common stock;

. other ways not involving market makers or established trading markets,
including direct sales to purchasers or sales effected through agents;

. through transactions in options, swaps or other derivatives, whether
exchange-listed or otherwise; or

. any combination of any such methods or sale.

In effecting sales, brokers and dealers that the selling stockholder
engages may arrange for other brokers or dealers to participate. Brokers or
dealers may receive commissions or discounts from the selling stockholder to
sell a specified number of shares at a stipulated price per share, and, to the
extent such a broker or dealer is unable to do so acting as agent for the
selling stockholder, may purchase as principal any unsold shares at the price
required to fulfill such broker or dealer commitment to the selling stockholder.
Brokers or dealers who acquire shares as principals may thereafter resell such
shares from time to time in transactions, which may involve crosses and block
transactions, and which may involve sales through other brokers or dealers,
including transactions of the nature described above, in the over-the-counter
market, in negotiated transactions or otherwise, at market prices and terms
prevailing at the time of sale, at prices and terms related to such prevailing
prices and terms, in negotiated transactions or at fixed prices and in
connection with the methods as described above. The selling stockholder may sell
its shares of our common stock direct or by pledgees, donees, tranferees or
other successors in interest.

We will maintain the effectiveness of the registration of our common stock
offered by this prospectus until May 26, 2000, two years from the effective date
of our initial public offering or the date on which the shares offered by this
prospectus, in the opinion of counsel, may be sold by the selling stockholder
pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, without regard to volume
limitations. Any shares which qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 under the
Securities Act of 1933 may be sold under that Rule rather than pursuant to this
prospectus. The selling stockholder may not sell any or all of the shares

offered hereby.

We are bearing all the costs relating to registering the shares of our common
stock offered by this prospectus, including attorneys' fees. Any commissions,
discounts or other fees payable to a broker, dealer, underwriter, agent or
market maker in connection with the sale of any of the shares of our common
stock will be borne by the selling stockholder.

We have agreed to indemnify Tech Ventures, any person who controls Tech Ventures
and any underwriters for Tech Ventures, against certain liabilities and expenses
arising out of, or based upon, the information set forth in this prospectus, and

the Registration Statement of which this prospectus is a part, including



liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, and if a court holds such
indemnification to be unavailable, to contribute to the amount of such
liabilities and expenses.
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The selling stockholder and any brokers participating in such sales may be
deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities
Act of 1933. Any commissions paid or any discounts or concessions allowed to
any broker, dealer, underwriter, agent or market maker and, if any such broker,
dealer, underwriter, agent or market maker purchases any of the shares as
principal, any profits received on the resale of such shares, may be deemed to
be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act of 1933.

Because the selling stockholder may be deemed to be an underwriter, it may be
subject to prospectus delivery requirements under the Securities Act of 1933.
Furthermore, in the event the selling stockholder is deemed to be an underwriter
and a sale of shares is deemed to be a "distribution" or part of a distribution

of the shares, the selling stockholder, any selling broker or dealer and any
"affiliated purchasers" may be subject to Regulation M under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, which prohibits, with certain exceptions, any such person
from bidding for or purchasing any security which is the subject of such
distribution until his participation in that distribution is completed. In

addition, Regulation M prohibits, with certain exceptions, any "stabilizing bid"
or "stabilizing purchase" for the purpose of pegging, fixing or stabilizing the
price of common stock in connection with this offering.
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EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and schedule as of December 31, 1998 and
1997, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998,
incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in this registration
statement have been audited by Arthur Andersen LLP, independent public
accountants, as indicated in their reports with respect thereto and are included
herein in reliance upon the authority of such firm as experts in giving said
reports.

LEGAL MATTERS

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC, Atlanta, Georgia, will pass on certain
legal matters.

INDEMNIFICATION

Our Restated Bylaws and our Restated Certificate of Incorporation provide that
our directors and officers will be indemnified by us to the fullest extent
authorized by Delaware law, as it now exists or may in the future be amended,
against all expenses and liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with
service for or on behalf of us. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities

arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to our
directors, officers and controlling persons in accordance with our Restated
Bylaws, in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of
1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. We have obtained insurance which insures
our directors and officers against certain losses and which insures us against
certain of our obligations to indemnify our officers and directors. In addition,
our Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that our directors will not

be personally liable for monetary damages to us for breaches of their fiduciary
duty as directors unless they violated their duty of loyalty to us or our
stockholders, acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the law,
authorized illegal dividends or redemptions or derived an improper personal
benefit from their actions as directors. Such limitations of personal liability
under the Delaware General Corporation Law do not apply to liabilities arising
out of certain violations of the federal securities laws.

There is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors,
officers, employees or agents where indemnification by us will be required or
permitted. We are not aware of any threatened litigation or proceeding that



might result in a claim for indemnification.
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CLARUS CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS--(unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
<S> <C>

Cash and cash equivalents.............ccccevvevvevrereneeeeeennnnn $8,072
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance

for doubtful accounts of $799 and

$401 in 1999 and 1998, respectively........ccovvererrierecnnnne 11,248
Prepaid and other current assets............ccocevevenererenenne 759
Total current assets.........ccvevveeeveeeeeeeereeereenreeereeeneens 20,079
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT--N€L......cccoverieriericnieieieereee e 4,358
OTHER ASSETS:

Intangible assets, net of accumulated

amortization of $2,834 and $1,967 in

1999 and 1998, respectively........ccoeveieievienieniinieenenene 11,170
Deposits and other long-term assets..........ccccceveveerereeennne. 134

Total other assets..........coveeeveeevveeeieeereeecree e 11,304

TOTAL ASSETS.....cooiiiiiiiiiiiieiccccces $35,741

</TABLE>

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS--(unaudited)(continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
June 30,
1999
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
<S> <C>
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities..............cccecueuennne $ 6,927
Deferred revVenue..........c.oooevveeeeeeveeeeieeeeeeeeeeen 7,129
Current maturities of long-term debt.............ccoceeerineenee. 392
Total current liabiliti€s...........ccoeevvevreevreeireereeieeneenns 14,448
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Deferred revenue..........c..ooevveeeeeeceeeecieeeeeeeeeeen 1,654
Long-term debt, net of current maturities..........c..ccccceeeenee. 70
Other non-current liabilities...........ccoeevervverieneeniennnenns 235
Total liabilities.........ccoeovviiviiiiiieecieeeeeeeeeee 16,407
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common Stock, $.0001 par value; 25,000,000 shares
authorized in 1999 and 1998; 11,084,334 and

11,002,508 shares issued in 1999 and 1998, respectively............. 1
Additional paid in capital............ccooeniniiiiiiieee 61,505
Accumulated deficit.........oceverinininiiiiceeee (41,694)
Warrants 40
Treasury Stock, at COSt.......cocevvrirrierienieninenicncnee 2)
Deferred compensation..........c..ccceeveereninerieenieneenenn (516)
Total stockholders' equity........cccceoeeeeeerieneneneeene 19,334
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ...ccvevvveieeieeiienee. $ 35,741

</TABLE>

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS--(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Six months
Three months ended ended
June 30 June 30
1999 1998 1999 1998
REVENUES:
<S> <C> <C> <C> <C>
License fees......covvvevvennnnnn.. $ 4220 % 4,814%$7,879 $8,443
Services fees 4,551 3,838 10,053 6,890
Maintenance fees....................... 2,508 1,814 4,748 3,414
Total revenues.........cc..couveene. 11,279 10,466 22,680 18,747

COST OF REVENUES:



License fees........ccceevervennennne. 365 305 711 565
Services fees 3,321 2,376 6,640 4,507
Maintenance fees............c......... 939 835 1,970 1,516

Total cost of revenues................ 4,625 3,516 9,321 6,588
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development............... 2,358 1,386 4,552 2,529
Sales and marketing.................... 3,444 2,904 6,817 5,391
General and administrative............. 1,603 1,191 3,222 2,548
Depreciation and amortization.......... 963 525 1,833 929
Non-cash compensation.................. 42 749 84 803
Total operating expenses.............. 8,410 6,755 16,508 12,200
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)................. (1,756) 195 (3,149) (41)
INTEREST INCOME............cccueu..... 111 129 228 159
INTEREST EXPENSE...... 24 61 51 121
MINORITY INTEREST -0- -0- -0- 36
NET INCOME (LOSS)...cccoeeveveiennnen $ (1,669)$ 2633%(2,972)$ (39)
Income (loss) per common share:
BasiC...ccvevverienieeiieieceeens $ (0.15)8$ 0.06$(0.27)$(0.01)
Diluted.....c.ccoovevevieiiieiennnnes (0.15)$ 0.03$(0.27) $ (0.01)
Weighted average shares outstanding
BasiC...ccooovevviiieiieeeeeeeis 10,989 4,496 10,968 3,026
Diluted.....ccoevvevveriiriieiienenns 10,989 8,758 10,968 3,026
</TABLE>

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (unaudited)

(in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Six months ended
June 30

1999 1998
<S> <C> <C>
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NEt 10SS...oovievieiieieieeciece e $(2,972)$ (39)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:

Depreciation..........ceveeveeeeeieeeeeienienennes 1,006 547
AMOTtiZation........ceeceeeeieieienereeeeeeeenens 867 382
Minority interest in subsidiary............cccccceuee -0- 36
Amortization of debt discount..............cccccoene. -0- 34
Deferred compensation..............ccccveeveereeveenenne 84 803
Loss on disposal of property and equipment.............. 52 -0-
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable...................... e (2,250) (1,768)
Prepaid and other current assets..........c..cccce.ce.. (206) 140
Deposits and other long-term assets.................... 181 (32)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities............... (499) 335
Deferred revenue.........ccoceeveveeneneeiennnnen. 916) (961)
Other non-current liabilities.............c.ccceene. 160 16
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES................. (4,493) (507)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment..................... (2,037) (1,089)
Purchases of intangible assets...........c.cccceueeee. -0-  (150)
Purchase of minority interest in subsidiary............. -0-  (326)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

................. (2,037) (1,565)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:



Proceeds from issuance of common stock.................. 112 22,126

Proceeds from notes payable and short-term borrowings...  -0- 1,645
Repayments of notes payable and short-term borrowings...  (309) (3,343)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock............... -0- 150

Proceeds from the exercise of warrants.................. -0- 612

Dividends paid to holder of minority interest........... -0- (241

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES... (197) 20,949

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS.......... (6,727) 18,877
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period............ 14,799 7,213
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period.................. $ 8,072 $26,090
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE:

Cash paid for interest...........c.ccocveveeveurnnen. $ 518 93
</TABLE>

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of
Clarus Corporation (the "Company") have been prepared in accordance with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for interim financial information and
instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they
do not include all of the information in notes required by Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals)
necessary for a fair presentation of the unaudited financial statements for
this interim period have been included. The results of the interim periods are
not necessarily indicative of the results to be obtained for the year ended
December 31, 1999. These interim financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and
footnotes thereto included in the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1998, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Note 2. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share was computed in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings per
Share," using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The
diluted net loss per share for the six month periods ended June 30, 1999 and
1998, and the quarter ended June 30, 1999, do not include the effect of common
stock equivalents, including redeemable convertible preferred stock, as their
effect would be antidilutive. Diluted net income per share for the quarter
ended June 30, 1998, includes the effect of common stock equivalents.

Note 3. Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenue consists of revenues from the licensing of software
and fees from consulting, implementation, training, and maintenance services.
Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Position No. 97-2,
"Software Revenue Recognition" ("SOP No. 97-2"). Under SOP No. 97-2, the
Company recognizes software license revenue when the following criteria are
met: (i) a signed and executed contract is obtained, (ii) shipment of the
product has occurred, (iii) the license fee is fixed and determinable, (iv)
collectibility is probable, and (v) remaining obligations under the license
agreement are insignificant.

During the second quarter ended June 30, 1999, the Company entered a
license and support agreement with a customer in exchange for approximately
$1,549,000, consisting of $380,000 in cash and equity securities valued at
$1,169,000. The cash portion is due by December 31, 1999. The number of equity



securities to be issued to the Company will be determined based on the same
terms and conditions set forth in the customer's first sale of its equity
securities with an independent third-party bona-fide purchaser. If the
offering is not complete by September 30, 1999, the customer is required to
pay the Company cash in the amount of $1,169,000 on September 30, 1999.

F-6
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors of Clarus Corporation
and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CLARUS
CORPORATION (a Delaware corporation and formerly SQL Financials International,
Inc.) AND SUBSIDIARIES as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. An audit also include assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Clarus Corporation

and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 1998 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Atlanta, Georgia

January 29, 1999 (except with respect to the matter discussed in Note 12 to
which the date is October 18, 1999)
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 1997 AND 1998
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents..........ccccccoveevreniennnn. $7,213 $14,799
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $338 and $401 in 1997 and 1998, respectively........... 4,052 8,998
Prepaid and other current assets.............cccceeueenne 492 553
Total current assets.........ccceeeveeevvveeeveeenneenn 11,757 24,350
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Furniture and equipment...........c.cccoeevveereeennnnne. 3,094 6,230

Leasehold improvements.............cccoceverieneeenennene 280 351



Total property and equipment............c.ccceeveuenene. 3,374 6,581
Less accumulated depreciation (1,867) (3,127)

Property and equipment, net.............cccceeerenuene 1,507 3,454
OTHER ASSETS:
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of
$1,127 and $1,967 in 1997 and 1998, respectively.......... 1,267 11,963
Deposits and other long-term assets.............cc.c....... 150 315
Total other assets.........coovveveveviieeciiieenenns 1,417 12,278
Total ASSELS.....vevveierieeeerieeeeeeeee e $14,681 $40,082
</TABLE>
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LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities................. $ 4,598 § 7,417
Accounts payable-related party...........cocceceeeenee 54 9
Deferred revenue............ocovvevveeveveeieneenne.. 5,717 1,397
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease
obligations.........ccoeeeierienienieeeeceeeeneen 1,841 526
Total current liabiliti€s.........cccceevvvuvreennnn. 12,210 15,349
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Deferred revenue..........cccoeevveeevivcneeecnenenne. 4,480 2,302
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of cur-
reNt MALULITICS..c.veveveererereeerieeereneeneeeeneen 497 245
Other long-term liabilities...........cccceceeveeneeneee 49 75
Total liabilities........cecevvervreneerenienennen 17,236 17,971

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 11)
MINORITY INTEREST IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARY.............. 243

REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK:
Series A, 262,500 shares issued and outstanding in 1997.. 1,050
Series B, 454,888 shares issued and outstanding in 1997.. 3,025
Series C, 428,572 shares issued and outstanding in 1997.. 3,000
Series D, 701,755 shares issued and outstanding in 1997.. 6,000
Series E, 697,675 shares issued and outstanding in 1997.. 6,000
Series F, 628,809 shares issued and outstanding in 1997.. 6,037

Soococooco

Total redeemable convertible preferred stock........... 25,112 0
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT):

Preferred stock, $1 and $.0001 par value in 1997 and

1998, respectively; 3,500,000 and 5,000,000 shares

authorized in 1997 and 1998, respectively; 3,174,199

shares disclosed above as redeemable convertible

preferred stock issued and outstanding in 1997 and 0

shares issued and outstanding in 1998................... 0 0
Common stock, $.0001 par value; 9,000,000 and 25,000,000
shares authorized in 1997 and 1998, respectively;

1,467,160 and 11,002,508 shares issued in 1997 and 1998,

reSPECVELY..ooviiieiiieieieeeee e 0 1

Additional paid-in capital............cccceeuerrnnne. 489 61,393
Accumulated deficit..........cooeeeeieneniiinenene (28,019) (38,721)
Warrants........ccccoceveeeene 652 40

Less treasury stock, 75,000 shares at cost............... 2 @
Note from stockholder...........cceoevveeninieennene (612) 0

Deferred compensation (418) (600)



Total stockholders' equity (deficit)................... (27,910) 22,111

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)... $ 14,681 $ 40,082

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance
sheets.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1997, AND 1998

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998
<S> <C> <C> <C>
REVENUES:
License fees.......coovvvvvveveeeceeeennnn, $ 6,425 $13,506 $ 17,372
Services fe€s.....ccuvvvviriniiiiieiieeens 3,984 7,786 16,477
Maintenance fees.........cccoeevveeerveeerneenns 2,647 4,696 7,791
Total revenues..........ccccoevvveeueeenenne 13,056 25,988 41,640
COST OF REVENUES:
License fees.......coovevveeevieeveeeennnn, 416 1,205 1,969
Services fees 2,904 5,338 10,353
Maintenance fees.........coovvvveevvuveeeeenns 1,350 1,973 3,599
Total cost of revenues..........c...cove.ene. 4,670 8,516 15,921
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development......................... 5,360 6,690 6,335
Purchased research and development............... 0 0 10,500
Sales and marketing............ccceceeereenne 7,191 9,515 11,802
General and administrative....................... 2,368 3,161 5,126
Depreciation and amortization.................... 1,125 1,406 2,154
Non-cash compensation.............eceeeveeenene 0 58 880
Total operating expenses...................... 16,044 20,830 36,797
OPERATING LOSS.....ccocoveviieeieeeeeee (7,658) (3,358) (11,078)
INTEREST INCOME.........ccoovviiriieieiennns 0 34 636
INTEREST EXPENSE (6) (308) (224)
MINORITY INTEREST.......cccovevvirerecrerene. (215) (478) (36)
NET LOSS...oooiiieieeeeeeeeeeeve e $(7,879) $(4,110) $(10,702)
BASIC NET LOSS PER SHARE..........ccoeveueenenne. $(5.74)$ (297 % (1.70)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING......... 1,373 1,386
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1997, AND 1998

(in thousands)

6,311



<TABLE>

<CAPTION>
Total
Common Stock Additional Treasury Stock Stockholders'
-------------- Paid-in Accumulated ------------—-—- Note From Deferred  Equity
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Warrants Shares Amount Stockholder Compensation (Deficit)
<S> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C> <C>
BALANCE,
DECEMBER 31,
1995............ 2,181 $0 $ 321 $(15946) $ 612 (810)$ (302) $(612) $ 0  $(15,927)
Issuance costs,
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock,
Series E....... 0 0 0 34) 0 0 0 0 0 34
Issuance of
stock options.. 0 0 148 0 0 0 0 0 (148) 0
Exercise of
stock options.. 4 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
Net loss........ 0 0 0 (7,879) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,879)

BALANCE, DECEMBER
31, 1996........ 2,185 0 472 (23,859) 612 (810) (302) (612) (148)  (23,837)
Issuance costs,

redeemable

convertible

preferred

stock,

Series F....... 0 0 0 (50) 0 0 0 0 0 (50)
Issuance of

warrants....... 0 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 0
Unamortized debt

discount....... 0 0 (22) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (22)
Issuance of

stock options.. 0 0 328 0 0 0 0 0 (328)
Amortization of

deferred

compensation... 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 58

Retirement of

treasury

stock.......... (735) 0  (300) 0 0 735 300 0 0 0
Exercise of

stock options.. 17 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

Net loss........ 0 0 0 (4,110) 0 0 0 0 0 (4,110)

40

0

58

BALANCE, DECEMBER
31,1997........ 1,467 0 489 (28,019) 652 75 2 (612) (418) (27,910)
Issuance of

common stock in

initial public

offering....... 2,500 0 21,962 0 0 0 0 0 0
Issuance of

stock in

acquisition of

ELEKOM

Corporation.... 1,391 0 7,615 0 0 0 0 0 0
Issuance of

warrant and

shares in

acquisition of

minority

interest in

Services

Subsidiary..... 225 0 1,800 0 1,400 0 0 0 0
Conversion of

preferred

stock.......... 4,788 1 25262 0 0 0 0 0 0
Conversion of

note payable

for exercise of

21,962

7,615

3,200

25,263



warrant........ 300 0 1,012 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,012
Exercise of

warrants....... 132 0 2,012 0 (2,012) 0 0 612 0 612
Issuance of

stock options.. 0 0 1,062 0 0 0 0 0 (1,062) 0
Amortization of

deferred

compensation... (U] 0 0 0 0 0 0 880 880
Exercise of

stock options.. 200 0 179 0 0 0 0 0 0 179
Net loss........ 0 0 0 (10,702) 0 0 0 0 0 (10,702)
BALANCE, December

31, 1998........ 11,003 $1 $61,393 $(38,721) $§ 40 7% 2 $ 0 $ (600) $22,111
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1997, AND 1998

(in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1996 1997 1998
<S> <C> <> <C>
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

......................................... $(7,879) $ (4,110) $(10,702)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
used in operating activities:

Depreciation.........cceceeveveeieienenene 640 840 1,271
Amortization of intangible assets............... 485 566 883
Minority interest..........coceeveeereenenn. 216 478 36
Amortization of debt discount................... 0 18 77
Purchased research and development.............. 0 0 10,500
Non-cash compensation.............ccceeueneee 0 58 880
Loss on sale of property and equipment.......... 0 46 0
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net....................... (352) (2,062) (5,089)
Prepaid and other current assets............... (31) (402) (66)
Deposits and other long-term assets............ (22) 23 (205)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities....... 3 2,370 1,228
Deferred revenue..........cccocovveenennee.. 4,180 2,178  (617)
Other long-term liabilities.................... 53) (@(14) 26

Total adjustments..........cccceceeeeneenen. 5,066 4,099 8924

Net cash used in operating activities........ (2,813) (11) (1,778)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of ELEKOM Corporation, net of cash
ACqUITEd...evveeieeieiieeeee e 0 0 (8,450)

Purchases of property and equipment.............. (958) (1,193) (2,418)
Purchase of minority interest in consolidated
SUbSIAIArY...cveeveeieeieeeeeeeee 0 0 (392

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment..... 0 10 0

Purchases of intangible software rights.......... (2,000) (50) (178)

Net cash used in investing activities........ (2,958) (1,233) (11,438)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible
preferred stock.........ccecvevieriiniinnnnnnn. 5,966 5987 150

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in



initial public offering...........ccccocecenee 0 0 21,962

Proceeds from the exercise of options............ 3 11 179
Proceeds from notes payable and short-term

DOITOWINGS. ..o 2,472 42,633 1,645
Repayments of notes payable and short-term
DOITOWINGS....c.coveveviieieicirieieicenes (490) (43,201) (3,505)

Proceeds from preferred stock bridge financing... 0 2,000 0
Repayment of preferred stock bridge financing.... (2,000) (2,000) 0

Proceeds from exercise of warrants............... 0 0 612
Payments to holder of minority interest.......... 0 0 (241
Repayment of note receivable from holder of

MInority iNterest.........coeveeeeeveneenenn 0 38 0

Dividends paid to holder of minority interest.... (234) (290) 0

Net cash provided by financing activities.... 5,717 5,178 20,802

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS............... (54) 3,934 7,586
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year...... 3,333 3,279 7,213

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year............ $3,279 $ 7,213 $ 14,799

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE:
Cash paid for interest...........cccovvevnnene. $ 153§ 330 % 161

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
Issuance of stock in the acquisition of ELEKOM
Corporation (Note 1)........ccoevevererrenenes $ 08 0870615

Issuance of 225,000 shares of common stock,
warrants to purchase 300,000 shares of common
stock, and note payable for purchase of the
minority interest in consolidated subsidiary

LTSI K) N $ 0% 0 4300
Conversion of preferred stock.................... $§ 08 0 $25262
Conversion of note payable for exercise of

WATTANE . ..cveeeicecieceeeeee e $ 0% O0S$ 1,100
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1997, AND 1998
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization

Clarus Corporation (formerly SQL Financials International, Inc.) (the
"Company") develops, markets, supports, and provides installation and
implementation services for its Web-based commerce application and its
client/server financial software and service applications. The Company markets
its products under the trade name Clarus primarily in the United States and
Canada. The Company operates in a single segment as defined by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 131, "Disclosure about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information," and does not have significant
operations in foreign locations.

Completion of Initial Public Offering
On May 26, 1998, the Company completed an initial public offering (the
"Offering") of 2.5 million shares at $10 per share, resulting in net proceeds

of approximately $22.0 million.

On February 19, 1998, the Company's Board of Directors approved a three-
for-two stock split on the Company's common stock to be affected in the form



of a stock dividend. All share and per share data in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect the split.

Acquisition of Elekom Corporation

On November 6, 1998, the Company completed its acquisition of ELEKOM
Corporation ("ELEKOM") for approximately $15.7 million, consisting of $8.0
million in cash and approximately 1.4 million shares, valued at $5.52 per
share, of the Company's common stock. ELEKOM was merged with and into Clarus
CSA, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the separate
existence of ELEKOM ceased. The Company, as additional purchase price,
recorded (i) payments of $500,000 made to fund the operations of ELEKOM from
October 1, 1998, through the closing date and (ii) expenses of approximately
$1.0 million to complete the merger. The Company allocated $10.5 million of
the purchase price to purchased in-process research and development. The
remainder of the excess of the purchase price over the tangible assets
acquired of approximately $6.9 million was assigned to trade names, workforce,
and goodwill and is being amortized over a period ranging from three months to
ten years.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated.

Minority Interest

Minority interest represented the 20% ownership interest in the Company's
majority-owned subsidiary Clarus Professional Services, L.L.C. (the "Services
Subsidiary") (Note 3).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year presentation.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The book values of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable,
trade accounts payable, and other financial instruments approximate their fair
values principally because of the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The fair value of the Company's long-term debt is estimated based on current
rates offered to the Company for debt with similar terms and maturities. Under
this method, the Company's fair value of financial instruments was not
materially different from the stated value at December 31, 1997 and 1998.

Credit and Concentrations of Product Risk

The Company's accounts receivable potentially subject the Company to credit



risk, as collateral is generally not required. The credit risk is mitigated by
the large number of customers comprising the customer base.

Substantially all of the Company's product revenues are derived from sales
of its financial and human resources applications. Increased market acceptance
of the Company's product family is critical to the Company's ability to
increase sales and thereby sustain profitability. Any factor adversely
affecting sales or pricing levels of these applications will have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenue consists of revenues from the licensing of software
and fees from consulting, implementation, training, and maintenance services.
For the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1997, the Company recognized
software license revenue in accordance with the provisions of American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position ("SOP") No.
91-1, "Software Revenue Recognition." Accordingly, software license revenue
was recognized upon shipment of the software following execution of a
contract, provided that no significant vendor obligations remain outstanding,
amounts are due within one year, and collection is considered probable by
management. If significant post-delivery obligations exist, the revenue from
the sale of the software license, as well as other components of the contract,
was recognized using percentage of completion accounting.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted SOP No. 97-2, "Software
Revenue Recognition," that supersedes SOP No. 91-1, "Software Revenue
Recognition." Under SOP No. 97-2, the Company recognizes software license
revenue when the following criteria are met: (i) a signed and executed
contract is obtained, (ii) shipment of the product has occurred, (iii) the
license fee is fixed and determinable, (iv) collectibility is probable, and
(v) remaining obligations under the license agreement are insignificant.

Revenues from services fees are recognized as the services are performed.
Maintenance fees relate to customer maintenance and support and are recognized
rateably over the term of the software support services agreement, which is
typically 12 months.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Revenues that have been prepaid or invoiced but that do not yet qualify for
recognition under the Company's policies are reflected as deferred revenues.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues at December 31, 1997 and 1998, were as follows (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>
Deferred revenues:
Deferred license fees........ccovvevveveieviveeenennn. $ 1,027 % 809
Deferred services and training fees.......c..cc.cceeu.e.e. 127 353
Deferred maintenance fees..........coeevveeveervenneens 9,043 8,537
Total deferred revenues..........cc..ccevveeevveennennn. 10,197 9,699
Less current portion..........cecceeeverenenencecene 5,717 7,397
Non-current deferred revenues............cccoeeevveene.. $ 4,480 $2,302
</TABLE>

The Company has introduced in the past, and is expected to introduce in the
future, additional modules and product enhancements. As a result, deferred
revenues resulting from contracts executed in a prior period are recognized in



the quarter in which delivery of the new product occurs. This practice has and
will in the future continue to cause fluctuations in revenues and operating
results from period to period.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of furniture, computers, other office
equipment, purchased software, and leasehold improvements. These assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over a two-, five-, or seven-year life.
Improvements are amortized over the term of the lease.

Product Returns and Warranties

The Company provides warranties for its products after the software is
purchased for the period in which the customer maintains the Company's support
of the product. The Company generally supports only current releases and the
immediately prior releases of its products. The Company's license agreements
generally do not permit product returns by its customers. The Company has not
experienced significant warranty claims to date. Accordingly, the Company has
not provided a reserve for warranty costs at December 31, 1997 and 1998.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include goodwill, workforce, trade names, and purchased
software licensing rights and are being amortized on a straight-line basis
over periods ranging from two to 15 years.

In 1996, the Company entered into a license and private label agreement to
purchase a non-exclusive and perpetual license for human resources, payroll,
and benefits software. The agreement allows the Company to modify and enhance
the software and to license these software products to its customers. The
purchase price of $2.0 million is included in intangible assets and is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 48
months. Amortization expense related to the agreement for the years ended
December 31, 1996, 1997, and 1998, was approximately $417,000, $500,000, and
$500,000, respectively. The amortization expense related to the agreement is
included in research and development expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
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The Company has entered into other license agreements which are being
amortized over the terms of the agreements.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Internal research and development expenses are charged to expense as
incurred. Computer software development costs are charged to research and
development expense until technological feasibility is established, after
which remaining software production costs are capitalized in accordance with
SFAS No. 86, "Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed." The Company has defined technological feasibility as the
point in time at which the Company has a working model of the related product.
Historically, the internal development costs incurred during the period
between the achievement of technological feasibility and the point at which
the product is available for general release to customers have not been
material. Therefore, the Company has charged all internal software development
costs to expense as incurred for the three years ended December 31, 1998.

The Company has in the past and may in the future purchase or license
software that may be modified and integrated with its products. If at the time
of purchase or license, technological feasibility is met, the cost of the
software is capitalized and amortized over a period not to exceed its useful
life.

Impairment of Long-lived and Intangible Assets

The Company periodically reviews the values assigned to long-lived assets,
including property and other assets, to determine whether any impairments are



other than temporary. Management believes that the long-lived assets in the
accompanying balance sheets are appropriately valued.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following as of
December 31, 1997 and 1998 (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>
Accounts payable...........ccocevueeirenieinieineeenn $ 973 $2,105
Accrued compensation, benefits, and commissions............... 1,636 2,569
Accrued other.........ooocvviieiiiiiiiiiecceeeeee, 1,989 2,743
$4,598 $7,417
</TABLE>
Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share was computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings
Per Share," using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.
Net loss per share does not include the impact of stock options, warrants, or
convertible preferred stock as their impact would be antidilutive. Diluted
earnings per share is not presented, as the effects of these common stock
equivalents were antidilutive.

Stock-Based Compensation Plan

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plan under Accounting
Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees." Effective in fiscal year 1996, the Company adopted the disclosure
option of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." SFAS No.
123
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requires that companies which do not choose to account for stock-based
compensation as prescribed by the statement shall disclose the pro forma
effects on earnings and earnings per share as if SFAS No. 123 had been
adopted.

New Accounting Pronouncement

In 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 133,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." SFAS No. 133
is effective for the Company's fiscal year ending December 31, 2000.
Management does not expect SFAS No. 133 to have a significant impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997, and 1998,
is the same as net loss presented in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations.

2. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the three years ended December 31, 1998, the Company engaged in a
number of transactions with McCall Consulting Group, Inc. ("McCall Consulting
Group") and Technology Ventures, L.L.C. ("Technology Ventures"), entities
controlled by Joseph S. McCall, a former director of the Company. In the
opinion of management, the rates, terms, and considerations of the
transactions with related parties approximate those with non-related entities.

Expenses relating to services provided by McCall Consulting Group were as



follows for the three years ended December 31, 1998 (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998
<S> <C> <C> <C>
Contract labor expense:
Research and development...........c.cccevevrnennenee. $1,250 $1,450 $186
Administrative services 22 38 4
Office rental eXpense........ccoecveveerveerveeeeennens 9% 71 0
Training.......ccoeeveveieveenenieneeeee e 37 19 8
Software and equipment purchases and rental expense...... 24 33 22
TOtal ..o $1,429 $1,611 $220
</TABLE>

Amounts owed related to services provided by McCall Consulting Group were
as follows as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities..........c.cccecernenee. $52 §9
</TABLE>

Expenses relating to services provided by Technology Ventures were as
follows for the three years ended December 31, 1998 (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998
<S> <C> <C> <C>
ReECTUItING SETVICES...vevvveveviiererieiiereeeiereieeeanas $339%0 $0
Administrative SErviCeS.........evvueeevreeeevreeireeeennens 2323 2
TOtAL ..o $362 $23 $2
</TABLE>
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In February 1998, the Company entered into an agreement with Mr. McCall
whereby he resigned as the Company's chief executive officer and as chairman,
chief executive officer, and manager of the Services Subsidiary. Mr. McCall
remained an employee of the Company until the completion of the Offering, at
which time he became a consultant to the Company for a period of one year
pursuant to the terms of an independent contractor agreement. In recognition
of past services to the Company, the termination of the voting trust discussed
in Note 10, and resignations of certain positions noted above, the Company
paid to Mr. McCall a lump sum of $225,000 on June 30, 1998, and also agreed to
pay Mr. McCall severance of $75,000 payable over a one-year period. For his
consulting services, the Company is paying Mr. McCall the sum of $125,000 over
the one-year period from the date of the Offering, with the ability to earn an
additional $100,000 in incentive compensation if certain revenue targets are
met by the Company. The Company paid $107,000 to Mr. McCall under this
consulting agreement during the year ended December 31, 1998.

3. SERVICES SUBSIDIARY

On March 9, 1995, the Company issued 450,000 shares of common stock to
acquire certain intellectual property rights and tangible assets valued at
$300,000 from Technology Ventures, a related party controlled by Mr. McCall.
Subsequent to the acquisition, the Company and Technology Ventures formed a



subsidiary, the Services Subsidiary, which was 80%-owned by the Company. The
Company contributed the acquired intellectual property rights and tangible

assets to the Services Subsidiary. Technology Ventures acquired the remaining
20% interest in the Services Subsidiary in exchange for a $75,000 note bearing
interest at 7.74%, payable annually, with the principal due in a lump-sum
payment in March 2000. As of December 31, 1997, the note was reflected as a
reduction of minority interest in consolidated subsidiary. The Services

Subsidiary provided implementation services for the Company's software
applications.

On February 5, 1998, the Company purchased Technology Ventures' 20%
ownership in the Services Subsidiary for a purchase price of approximately
$4.5 million. In exchange for the 20% interest in the Services Subsidiary, the
Company (i) issued 225,000 shares of common stock to Technology Ventures, (ii)
granted Technology Ventures a warrant to purchase an additional 300,000 shares
of common stock at a purchase price of $3.67 per share, and (iii) agreed to
pay Technology Ventures a monthly sum equal to 20% of the net profits of the
Services Subsidiary until the earlier of the completion of the Offering or a
sale of the Company. In addition, the Company agreed to pay Technology
Ventures the sum of $1.1 million upon exercise of the warrant, but not later
than February 5, 2000, pursuant to a non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing
subordinated promissory note. The Company imputed interest on the note payable
based on its original terms and recognized interest during the period the note
was outstanding. In November 1998, the warrant was exercised and the note
payable was surrendered as payment for the warrant exercise price. The
remaining unamortized discount of $89,000 on the note payable was reclassified
to additional paid in capital.

All of the material terms of the purchase and sale were agreed to by
Technology Ventures and the Company in January 1998. The purchase and sale
were accounted for in the first quarter of 1998 based on the value of the
common stock issued in such transaction at $8 per share. In February 1998, the
Services Subsidiary also paid to Technology Ventures approximately $33,000 as
consideration for the termination of a management services agreement, entered
into between the parties in March 1995, and Technology Ventures paid in full,
to the Services Subsidiary, the remaining principal balance and all accrued
interest due under its $75,000 promissory note.

The purchase price was determined by including the following: (i) 225,000
shares of common stock at $8 per share, or $1.8 million, (ii) a note payable
of $1.1 million discounted for interest at 9% for two years, resulting in a
net note payable of $934,000, (ii) cash paid of $62,000, (iv) 20% of net
profits, totaling $330,000,
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for the period February 5, 1998, through the Offering, and (v) a warrant

valued at $1.4 million determined using the Black-Scholes model and using
expected volatility of 65%, an expected term of two years, and a risk-free

rate of 5.5% to determine a value per share of $4.67, or a total value of $1.4
million. The Company has accounted for the transaction using the purchase
method of accounting. The purchase price has been allocated to assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on the fair market value at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill resulting from the transaction is being amortized over

15 years.

The Services Subsidiary had income of approximately $1.1 million, $2.4
million, and $179,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1997, and for
the period from January 1, 1998, to February 5, 1998, respectively. The
Services Subsidiary distributed dividends of approximately $1.2 million, $1.4
million, and $486,000 during the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1997, and
during the period from January 1, 1998, to February 5, 1998, respectively, to
the Company and the related-party minority interest holder.

4. PRO FORMA EFFECTS OF THE ELEKOM ACQUISITION
Unaudited pro forma operating results for the years ended December 31, 1997

and 1998, assuming that the acquisition of ELEKOM had occurred at the
beginning of each year, are as follows (in thousands, except per share



amounts):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>
REVENUES......eoivviieieceieceieceeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 26,005 $42,079
Pro forma net 10Ss........ccceevevienenineniniecee (21,258) (15,032)
Pro forma net loss per share............c.ccoceeenee (7.66) (2.01)
</TABLE>

5. INCOME TAXES

The Company files a consolidated tax return with its majority-owned
subsidiaries. The components of the income tax provision (benefit) for the
three years ended December 31, 1998, are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998
<S> <C> <C> <C>
Current:
Federal.......ccooveveveieieieeee. $§ 0% 09098
State...ccveereeierieeiereeeee e 0 0 12
0 0 110
Deferred:
Federal (2,494) (1,287) (98)
StAtC...cveerieerecreeeeeere et (468) (241) (12)
(2,962) (1,528) (110)
Change in valuation allowance....................... 2,962 1,528 110
Total..eeoveeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee $ 08 0% 0
</TABLE>
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The following is a summary of the items which caused recorded income taxes

to differ from taxes computed using the statutory federal income tax rate for
the three years ended December 31, 1998:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998

<S> <C> <C> <C>
Tax benefit at statutory
Tate...coveeeeeeenenn (34.0)% (34.0)% (34.0)%
Effect of:
State income tax, net... (4.0) (4.0) (4.0)
Other.......cccocee.... 04 1.1 1.7

Non-deductible acquired
research and develop-

ment........c.eeuene 0.0 00 373
Change in valuation al-

lowance................ 37.6 369 (1.0)
Provision (benefit) for

income taxes............. 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
</TABLE>

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities.



Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities as
of December 31, 1997 and 1998, are as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1997 1998

<S> <C> <C>

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards............c.c....... $10,047 $ 10,000
Allowance for doubtful accounts........................ 128 153
Depreciation and amortization.......................... 326 211
Accrued liabilities............ccocuv.... 141

10,614 10,505

Deferred tax liabilities:
Services Subsidiary..........cccceveverereninene (181) (182)
Amortization of purchased software..................... 5) 5)

(186)  (187)

Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance....... 10,428 10,318
Valuation allowance............cccevervenreerreenneanns (10,428) (10,318)
Net deferred tax assets..........cocoeveveveirverenennas $ 0% o0

</TABLE>

During 1998, the Company used $110,000 of the net operating loss
carryforwards to cover current income taxes payable. The Company reversed the
valuation allowance on the net operating loss carryforwards that were used and
set up a valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets created during the
current year. A valuation allowance is provided when it is determined that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets may not be realized.

Accordingly, since it currently is more likely than not that the net deferred

tax assets resulting from the remaining net operating loss carryforwards
("NOL's") and other deferred tax items will not be realized, a valuation
allowance has been provided in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 1997 and 1998. The Company established the
valuation allowance for the entire amount of the deferred tax assets

attributable to the NOL carryforwards as well as for the net deferred tax

assets created as a result of temporary differences between book and tax. The
Company will recognize such income tax benefits when realized. The NOL's at
December 31, 1998, were approximately $26.3 million and will expire at various
dates through 2012.
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The Company's ability to benefit from certain NOL carryforwards is limited
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, as the Company is deemed to
have had an ownership change of more than 50%, as defined. Accordingly,
certain NOL's may not be realizable in future years due to the limitation.

6. DEBT

The Company's short- and long-term debt consists of the following as of
December 31, 1997 and 1998 (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1997 1998
<S> <C> <C>

Equipment notes payable to a leasing company, payable in monthly
installments of $27, with principal installments of $169 due
March 2000 and August 2000, secured by certain company assets,



bearing interest at a weighted average rate of 22.1%............ $ 655 %465
Line-of-credit agreement with a bank, payable on September 30,
1999, bearing interest at prime plus 0.5%, secured by the assets

of Clarus CSA, INC...cvvveeeeieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee 0 150
Note payable to a financing company, payable in monthly install-
ments of approximately $2 through November 2000, secured by cer-
tain company assets, bearing interest at 8%...........c......... 51 33
Capital lease obligations............cccceveeverereeeeneenen. 0 123
Note payable for purchased software licensing rights, payable in
installments over a two-year period through March 1998 at the

rate at which the Company licenses human resources, payroll, and

benefits software to its CUStOMETS..........ccccevveveueennnee 1,632 0
2338 771
Less current portion of long-term debt............ccoeueeeeee. 1,841 526
S 4975245
</TABLE> -

The Company has a line-of-credit agreement with a bank bearing interest at
prime. The line-of-credit agreement provides for maximum borrowings not to
exceed the lesser of $3.0 million, or 80% of eligible accounts receivable.
Additionally, the Company has an equipment line agreement with a bank bearing
interest at prime plus 0.5%. The equipment line agreement provides for
borrowings not to exceed $1.0 million. Borrowings under these agreements are
collateralized by substantially all the Company's assets. The Company had no
amounts outstanding under the line of credit or equipment line at December 31,
1998. These lines of credit expire on April 29, 1999.

Under the provisions of the line-of-credit and the equipment line
agreements, the Company must comply with certain restrictive covenants. These
covenants, among other things, require the Company to maintain specified
levels of profitability each quarter.

During 1997, the Company entered into debt and lease agreements with a
leasing company. The debt and lease agreements provide total borrowing
capability of up to $1.0 million for equipment purchases. As of December 31,
1998, the Company had approximately $463,000 outstanding under these
agreements.

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 1998, are as
follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<S> <C>
December 31:
1999 $526
2000..... i 245
$771
</TABLE>
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7.ROYALTY AGREEMENTS

The Company is a party to royalty and other equipment manufacturer
agreements for certain of its applications. The Company incurred a total of
approximately $355,000, $1.1 million, and $1.8 million in royalty fees for the
years ended December 31, 1996, 1997, and 1998, respectively, pursuant to these
agreements. The royalties fees paid are included in cost of revenues-license
fees in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

During 1992, the Company entered into a royalty agreement with a former
stockholder. This agreement grants a 3.75% royalty on certain revenues of the
Company, less certain discounts or commissions, collected from any transfer,
sale, or licensing of specific modules of the software. The Company incurred



royalties of $177,000, $295,000, and $91,000 for the years ended December 31,
1996, 1997, and 1998, respectively, pursuant to this royalty agreement. The
royalties fees paid are included in cost of revenues-license fees in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors the SQL Financials International, Inc., 401(k) Plan
(the "Plan"), a defined contribution plan covering substantially all employees
of the Company. Under the Plan's deferred compensation arrangement, eligible
employees who elect to participate in the Plan may contribute between 2% and
20% of eligible compensation, as defined, to the Plan. The Company, at its
discretion, may elect to provide for either a matching contribution or
discretionary profit-sharing contribution or both. The Company did not make
matching or discretionary profit-sharing contributions to the Plan during the
three years ended December 31, 1998.

9. STOCK OPTION PLAN

The Company has a stock option plan for employees, consultants, and other
individual contributors to the Company which enables the Company to grant up
to approximately 1.6 million qualified and non-qualified incentive stock
options (the "1992 Plan"). The qualified options are to be granted at an
exercise price not less than the fair market value at the date of grant. The
non-qualified options are to be granted at an exercise price of not less than
85% of the fair market value at the date of grant. The stock option committee
determines the period within which options may be exercised, but no option may
be exercised more than ten years from the date of grant. The stock option
committee also determines the period over which the options vest. Options are
generally exercisable for seven years from the grant date and generally vest
over a period of four years at a rate of 20% for years one and two and 30% for
years three and four.

The stock option plan also provides for stock purchase authorizations and
stock bonus awards. As of December 31, 1998, no such awards have been granted
under the plan.

The Company adopted the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the "1998 Plan") in the
first quarter of 1998. Under the 1998 Plan, the Board of Directors has the
flexibility to determine the type and amount of awards to be granted to
eligible participants, who must be employees of the Company or its
subsidiaries. The 1998 Plan provides for grants of incentive stock options,
non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation
rights, and restricted units. The Company has authorized and reserved for
issuance an aggregate of 1.0 million shares of common stock for issuance under
the 1998 Plan. The aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be
granted through awards under the 1998 Plan to any employee in any calendar
year may not exceed 200,000 shares. The 1998 Plan will continue in effect
until February 2008 unless sooner terminated.
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Total options available for grant under the 1992 Plan and the 1998 Plan as
of December 31, 1998 were 310,125.

The Company applies the principles of APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees," in accounting for its Plan. Accordingly, the
Company recognizes deferred compensation when the exercise price of the
options granted is less than the fair market value of the stock at the date of
grant, as determined by the Board of Directors. The deferred compensation is
presented as a component of equity in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets and is amortized over the periods expected to be benefited, generally
the vesting period of the options.

During 1996, 1997, and 1998, the Company granted options with exercise
prices below the fair market value at the date of grant. Accordingly, the
Company recorded deferred compensation of approximately $148,000, $328,000,
and $1.1 million for options granted during the years ended December 31, 1996,
1997, and 1998, respectively. The Company amortizes deferred compensation over



four years, the vesting period of the options. The Company recognized no
compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 1996, and recognized
$58,000 and $880,000 of non-cash compensation expense related to option grants
for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998, respectively. The compensation
expense for 1998 includes the effect of the Company's acceleration of vesting

on certain options that were issued in the first quarter of 1998. The Company
accelerated vesting on options to purchase 283,597 shares of common stock at

an exercise price ranging from $3.67 to $8 per share. As a result of the
acceleration of vesting, the Company recorded a non-cash, non-recurring charge
of approximately $705,000 representing the unamortized deferred compensation
previously recorded.

A summary of changes in outstanding options during the three years ended
December 31, 1998, is as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares Price  Price
<S> <C> <C> <C>
December 31, 1995.......ccoovvveneennnen. 294,540 $ 0.67 $0.67
Granted.......c.oooveevveeveeeeneennen. 559,830 $0.67-$ 1.00 0.87
Canceled........coovevivveeeriienennns (63,579)$  0.67 0.67
Exercised.......cccooovvvvieiiiniinnns (4,350) $ 0.67 0.67
December 31, 1996.............ccu......... 786,441 $0.67-$1.00 0.81

Granted 802,845 $1.00-$3.67 2.96
(203,730) $0.67-$ 3.67 0.95
(16,814) $0.67-8 1.00 0.68
......................... 1,368,742 $0.67-$ 3.67 2.05
o 1,071,322 $3.67-$10.00 7.29
.................................. (143,413) $0.67-$10.00 3.12
................................. (199,546) $0.67-$ 3.67 0.90

......................... 2,097,105

</TABLE>
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
For SFAS No. 123 purposes, the fair value of each option grant has been

estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998

<S> <C> <C> <C>

Dividend yield........ccccoeeenueneee 0% 0% 0%

Expected volatility................... 70 65 65

Risk-free interest rate at the date of

JEIE:) 1 TR 5.27%-6.69% 5.78%-6.82% 4.10%-5.68%

Expected life.........ccoeevenennnn. Five years Four years Four Years
</TABLE>

Using these assumptions, the fair values of the stock options granted
during the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997, and 1998, are approximately
$355,000, $699,000, and $2.2 million, respectively, which would be amortized
over the vesting period of the options. Had compensation cost been determined



consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company's pro forma net
loss and net loss per share in accordance with SFAS No. 123 for the three
years ended December 31, 1998, would have been as follows (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1997 1998
<S> <C> <C> <C>
Net loss:
As reported.........cooveivieieieieieieinnn $(7,879) $(4,110) $(10,702)

Pro forma in accordance with SFAS No. 123...... (7,911) (4,269) (11,009)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:
As reported......coveveeeriereeirieienne, $(5.74)$(2.97) $(1.70)
Pro forma in accordance with SFAS No. 123...... (5.76) (3.08) (1.74)
</TABLE>

Because SFAS No. 123 has not been applied to options granted prior to
January 1, 1995, the resulting pro forma compensation cost may not be
representative of that expected in future years.

The following table summarizes the exercise price range, weighted average
exercise price, and remaining contractual lives by year of grant for the
number of options outstanding as of December 31, 1998:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Exercise Average Contractual
Year of Grant Shares Price Range Price Life (Years)
<S> <C> <C> <C> <C>
Prior to 1997.......cc...... 416,824 $0.67-$ 1.00 $0.89  6.52
1997 633,945 $1.00-$ 3.67 3.15  6.75
1998....ociiiiiniieeiene 1,046,336 $3.67-$10.00 7.32  6.44
Total.....ccovvvveennnnne. 2,097,105
</TABLE>

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the
years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998, was $3.04 and $7.33, respectively.

10. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stockholders' Agreement

All owners prior to the initial public offering of the Company's common
stock were parties to the Company's stockholders' agreement. The stockholders'
agreement terminated upon the Offering, with the exception of the registration
rights of the shares covered by the agreement.
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All the holders of common stock were party to a stockholders' voting
agreement dated September 1, 1995, whereby Mr. McCall was named voting trustee
and voted all common shares. As of December 31, 1997, Mr. McCall controlled
the right to vote 22.6% of the Company's outstanding voting stock, after
dilution from the preferred stockholders. Upon the resignation of Mr. McCall
in February 1998, this voting trust expired.

Preferred Stock
The Company is authorized to issue 5.0 million shares of preferred stock.

In connection with the Offering, the preferred stock outstanding on the date
of the Offering was converted to approximately 4.8 million shares of common



stock.

Prior to the Offering, preferred stockholders were entitled to participate
in any dividends paid to common stockholders and had the voting rights and
powers of the common stockholders, as defined. Preferred stockholders received
preferential distributions in the event of liquidation of the Company for $4
per share of Series A, $6.65 per share of Series B, $7 per share of Series C,
$8.55 per share of Series D, $8.60 per share of Series E, and $9.60 per share
of Series F, plus any unpaid declared dividends.

Each share of preferred stock was convertible at the option of the holder
at any time into the number of common shares which resulted from the effective
conversion rate, as defined. Prior to the Offering, the Company's certificate
of incorporation provided that the preferred stock would automatically convert
at defined conversion rates if the Company consummated an initial public
offering with a price per share and gross proceeds in excess of defined
thresholds. In 1998, the Company obtained waivers from the preferred
stockholders eliminating the requirement that the initial public offering
price and the gross proceeds from an initial public offering be at a defined
threshold in order for the conversion of the preferred stock to be effected
immediately upon an initial public offering.

Series A

On November 24, 1992, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement, the Company
sold 250,000 shares of Series A to Greylock Limited Partnership ("Greylock")
for an aggregate sum of $1.0 million. Stock issuance costs of $62,000 were
incurred in connection with the sale of the preferred shares. Additionally, on
June 30, 1993, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement, the Company sold
12,500 shares of Series A for an aggregate sum of $50,000.

Series B

On September 21, 1993, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement, the Company
sold a total of 454,888 shares of Series B at a price of $6.65 per share to
Greylock and additional third-party investors. The aggregate proceeds from the
sale of this stock totaled approximately $3.0 million. Stock issuance costs of
$30,000 were incurred in connection with the sale of the preferred shares.

Series C

On April 1, 1994, pursuant to a stock purchase agreement, the Company sold
a total of 428,572 shares of Series C at a price of $7 per share to certain
existing stockholders and additional third-party investors, resulting in
aggregate proceeds of $3.0 million. Stock issuance costs of $16,000 were
incurred.

On August 1, 1994, the Company sold 87,500 shares of Series C preferred
stock to Technology Ventures for a purchase price of $7 per share, the same
price per share as sold to the Series C investors in April 1994. Technology
Ventures paid the purchase price through the delivery of a secured promissory
note. The note was

F-25
CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)
guaranteed by Mr. McCall and was secured by the assets of an entity controlled
by Mr. McCall. As of December 31, 1997, the note was reflected as a reduction
of stockholders' equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
Company was almost entirely dependent at the time on the implementation
services of McCall Consulting Group, a wholly owned subsidiary of Technology
Ventures, which was performing substantially all of the implementation
services for the Company's software. In July 1995, at the request of and as a
financial accommodation to Technology Ventures, the Company converted the
87,500 shares of Series C preferred stock into a warrant to purchase such
shares on the same terms and conditions as set forth in the promissory note.
Based on its dependency on McCall Consulting Group, the Company believed it
was in its best interest to maintain Technology Ventures' long-term interest
in the success of the Company through a continuing equity interest. The note
was amended effective July 31, 1995, so that the principal amount is due and
payable only upon the exercise of the warrant. The warrant was reflected in



the statement of stockholders' deficit, with the corresponding note as a
reduction of stockholders' deficit in 1997. The warrant was exercised in 1998,
and the related note receivable was eliminated as the payment of the exercise
price.

Series D

On January 24, 1995, the Company received an advance on a pending equity
financing arrangement. The Company issued promissory notes to certain existing
preferred stockholders totaling $750,000 at an interest rate of 6%. In
addition, the Company issued warrants to the above parties to purchase 17,544
shares of Series D at a price of $8.55 per share. These warrants were
exercised in February 1998.

On February 21, 1995, the Company issued 701,755 shares of Series D for
$8.55 per share to certain existing preferred stockholders and additional
third-party investors. Of the proceeds, $750,000 was used to repay the advance
on the financing discussed above. Gross proceeds before stock issuance costs
were $6.0 million. Stock issuance costs of $73,000 were incurred.

On January 5, 1996, the Company entered into an agreement with its bank to
extend its old working capital line of credit. As part of the agreement, the
Company granted the bank a warrant to purchase 8,201 shares of Series D
convertible preferred stock at $8.55 per share. The warrant expired on January
4, 1999.

Series E

On February 15, 1996, the Company issued 697,675 shares of Series E for
$8.60 per share to certain existing preferred stockholders and additional
third-party investors. Of the proceeds, $2.0 million was used to repay an
advance on the financing received in 1995. Proceeds from the sale of this
stock, before stock issuance costs, were $6.0 million. Stock issuance costs of
$34,000 were incurred.

On March 28, 1997, the Company entered into an agreement with its bank to
amend its working capital line of credit. As part of the agreement, the
Company granted the bank a warrant to purchase 8,721 shares of Series E
convertible preferred stock at $8.60 per share. The warrant expires on
March 28, 2000.

Series F

On June 5, 1997, and August 5, 1997, the Company received advances on a
pending equity financing arrangement. The Company issued convertible
promissory notes to certain existing preferred stockholders totaling
approximately $2.0 million and bearing interest at a rate of 8.5%. The notes
were convertible upon the consummation of a private equity offering providing
gross proceeds in excess of defined thresholds. In
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connection with the issuance of the notes, the Company issued warrants to the
above parties to purchase 46,821 shares of Series F at a price of $9.60 per
share. The value of the warrants of $40,000 was recorded as a debt discount
and to be amortized over the period in which the convertible notes were
outstanding. For the year ended December 31, 1997, the Company amortized
$18,000 of the discount to interest expense. The debt was converted to
preferred stock in 1997, and the remaining unamortized debt discount was
reclassified to additional paid-in capital.

On September 27, 1997, the Company issued 416,668 shares of Series F to
third-party investors for $9.60 per share. Upon issuance of Series F to the
third-party investors, the aforementioned convertible notes and accrued
interest were converted to 212,141 shares of Series F at $9.60 per share.
Gross proceeds before stock issuance costs were approximately $6.0 million.
Stock issuance costs of $50,000 were incurred.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES



Leases

The Company rents certain office space, telephone, and computer equipment
under non-cancelable operating leases. Rents charged to expense were
approximately $749,000, $772,000, and $918,000 for the years ended December
31, 1996, 1997, and 1998, respectively. Aggregate future minimum lease
payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 1998, are as
follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>
<S> <C>
December 31:
1999 $1,401
2000, 1,241
2001t 1,016
2002, 965
Thereafter.......cocoovvviiiviiieiieeeeeeeeeee e 2,968
$7,591
</TABLE>

In addition, the Company rents certain equipment under agreements treated
for financial reporting purposes as capital leases. The Company's property
under capital leases, which is included in property and equipment on the
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 1998, was $121,000, which is net
of accumulated depreciation of $11,000.

Future minimum lease payments under capital leases are as follows (in
thousands):

<TABLE>
<S> <C>
December 31:

Total minimum lease payments.............ccocuevvererererenenen. 127
Less amount representing interest............cccceeerereereeennens @)

Present value of minimum lease payments.........c..cc.ccccecveeennene 123
Current POItioN..........e.eveeeeeerueiererieenierieeseeeeeneen 119

</TABLE>
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Letters of Credit

At December 31, 1997, standby letters of credit of approximately $290,000
and $210,000 had been issued in accordance with provisions under certain of
the Company's lease and financing agreements. The letters of credit of
$290,000 and $210,000 expire in July 1999 and August 1999, respectively. The
requirement for the letter of credit of $290,000 was terminated in January
1999.

Product Liability

As a result of their complexity, software products may contain undetected
errors or failures when first introduced or as new versions are released.
There can be no assurance that, despite testing by the Company and testing and
use by current and potential customers, errors will not be found in new
financial applications after commencement of commercial shipments or, if
discovered, that the Company will be able to successfully correct such errors
in a timely manner or at all. The occurrence of errors and failures in the
Company's products could result in loss of or delay in the market acceptance



of the Company's financial applications, and alleviating such errors and
failures could require significant expenditure of capital and other resources
by the Company. The consequences of such errors and failures could have a
material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

Litigation

The Company is subject to claims and litigation related to matters arising
in the normal course of business, including but not limited to, a lawsuit
recently filed against us alleging patent infringement. Based on a current
assessment of such claims and litigation, management believes that as of
December 31, 1998, there are no unasserted, asserted, or pending material
litigation or claims against the Company.

12. Subsequent Event

On October 18, 1999, the Company sold substantially all of its traditional
financial and human resource business for a total of approximately $17,000,000
to Geac Computer Systems, Inc. and Geac Canada Limited. Total revenue for the
traditional financial and human resource business for the years ended
December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 was approximately $13,056,000, $25,988,000 and
$40,778,000, respectively.
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No dealer, salesperson, or other person has been authorized to give any
information or to make any representations not contained in this prospectus. If
any such information is given or any such representations are made, they must
not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or the selling stockholder.
This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an

offer to buy any of the shares of our common stock offered hereby, to any person
in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. Neither the
delivery of this prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that the information herein is correct as
of any time subsequent to the date hereof or that there has been no change in
our affairs since such date.
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PROSPECTUS

November _ , 1999
PART I
Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

<TABLE>

<S> <C>

Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee............cccooceverenenenceeenene. $ 291
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. fee.........ccoceevvvvivviiiiieiciecennen. --
Nasdaq National Market liSting fee...........ccoevereirennineineeeseeeeeeen --

Accountants' fees and expenses 5,000
Underwriting Fees and COmMMISSIONS..........cecueruerieriirieneniierieieienie e eeeeie s --
Legal fees and eXpenses.........coevereririeieiesienieseee e 10,000
Blue Sky fees and eXpenses..........covevveruerererereeieieieiesese e --
Transfer Agent's fees and eXPenses..........ceeeeeierierenineneneneeeeeeeeeeene 1,000
Printing and engraving expenses 5,000
MISCEIANEOUS. .....ovviiieieeeiee ettt 5,000
TOTAL EXPENSES $ 26,291
</TABLE>

All fees other than the SEC registration fee are estimated.

None of the expenses of issuance and distribution will be borne by the
selling stockholder.

Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Our Restated Bylaws (the "Restated Bylaws") and our Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (the "Restated Certificate") provide that we will indemnify the
directors and officers to the fullest extent authorized by Delaware law, as it
now exists or may in the future be amended, against all expenses and liabilities
reasonably incurred in connection with service for or on behalf of us. Insofar
as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the "Securities Act"), may be permitted to our directors, officers and
controlling persons pursuant to the Restated Bylaws, in the opinion of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against public
policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. We
have obtained insurance which insures our directors and officers against certain
losses and which insures us against certain of our obligations to indemnify such
directors and officers. In addition, our Restated Certificate provides that our
directors will not be personally liable for monetary damages to us for breaches
of their fiduciary duty as directors, unless they violated their duty of loyalty
to us or our stockholders, acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally
violated the law, authorized illegal dividends or redemptions or derived an
improper personal benefit from their action as directors. Such limitations of
personal liability under the Delaware Business Corporation Law do not apply to
liabilities arising out of certain violations of the federal securities laws.

1I-1
There is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our
directors, officers, employees or agents where indemnification by us will be
required or permitted. We are not aware of any threatened litigation or
proceeding that might result in a claim for indemnification.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits. The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of the
Registration Statement.
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<TABLE>



<CAPTION>
Exhibit Description
No.
<S> <C>
2.1 Acquisition Agreement between the Registrant and Technology Ventures, LLC dated February 5,
1998 (Incorporated by Reference From Exhibit 2.1 as the Company's Form S-1 Registration Statement File No. 33-46685).
2.2 Non-Negotiable Subordinated Promissory Note to Technology Ventures, LLC dated February 5,
1998 (Incorporated by Reference From Exhibit 2.2 as the Company's Form S-1 Registration Statement File No. 33-46685).
2.3 Warrant for purchase of 200,000 shares issued to Technology Ventures, LLC dated February 5,
1998 (Incorporated by Reference From Exhibit 2.3 as the Company's Form S-1 Registration Statement File No. 33-46685).
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by Reference From Exhibit 46685 as
the Company's Form S-1 Registration Statement File No. 33-46685).
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (Incorporated by Reference From Exhibit 3.2 as the Company's
Form S-1 Registration Statement File No. 33-46685).
4.1 See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions of the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant defining rights of the
holders of Common Stock of the Registrant.

4.2 Specimen Stock Certificate. (Incorporated by Reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-63535)).

5.1 Opinion of Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC, as to the legality of the shares being
registered.

23.1 Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

23.2 Consent of Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC (included in Exhibit 5.1).

24.1 Powers of Attorney (included on signature page).

99.1 Report of Independent Public Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule (Incorporated by
Reference from Exhibit 99.1 of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998).

</TABLE>

(b) Financial Statement Schedule

(1) Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (Incorporation by
Reference from Schedule II of the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1998).

Item 17. Undertakings
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(a) The Registrant hereby undertake that:

(i) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities
Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall
be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities
offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(i1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being
made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement to include
any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not
previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change
to such information in the registration statement.
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(iii) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective
amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(iv) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the
Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual
report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)
that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities
offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant has duly
caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Suwanee, State of Georgia
on the 1st day of November, 1999.

CLARUS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Stephen P. Jeffery

Stephen P. Jeffery,
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, THAT EACH PERSON WHOSE SIGNATURE APPEARS
BELOW CONSTITUTES AND APPOINTS STEPHEN P. JEFFERY, AND EACH OF THEM, HIS TRUE
AND LAWFUL ATTORNEYS-IN-FACT AND AGENTS, WITH FULL POWER OF SUBSTITUTION AND
RESUBSTITUTION FOR HIM AND IN HIS NAME, PLACE AND STEAD, IN ANY AND ALL
CAPACITIES, TO SIGN ANY AND ALL AMENDMENTS (INCLUDING POST-EFFECTIVE AMENDMENTS)
TO THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT, AND ANY SUBSEQUENT REGISTRATION STATEMENTS
PURSUANT TO RULE 462 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND TO FILE THE SAME, WITH ALL
EXHIBITS THERETO, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, WITH THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, GRANTING UNTO SAID ATTORNEYS-IN-FACT AND
AGENTS, AND EACH OF THEM, FULL POWER AND AUTHORITY TO DO AND PERFORM EACH AND
EVERY ACT AND THING REQUISITE AND NECESSARY TO BE DONE IN AND ABOUT THE
PREMISES, AS FULLY TO ALL INTENTS AND PURPOSES AS HE MIGHT OR COULD DO IN
PERSON, HEREBY RATIFYING AND CONFIRMING ALL THAT EACH OF SAID ATTORNEYS-IN-FACT
OR HIS SUBSTITUTE OR SUBSTITUTES, MAY LAWFULLY DO OR CAUSE TO BE DONE BY VIRTUE
HEREOF.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities, this Registration Statement
has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

<S> <C> <C>

/s/ Stephen P. Jeffrey Chairman, Chief Executive Officer November 1, 1999
- (Principal Executive Officer); President

Stephen P. Jeffery and Director

/s/ Arthur G. Walsh, Jr. Chief Financial Officer (Principal November 1, 1999

- Financial and Accounting Officer)
Arthur G. Walsh, Jr.

/s/ William S. Kaiser Director November 1, 1999

William S. Kaiser

/s/ Donald L. House Director November 1, 1999

Donald L. House

/s/ Tench Coxe Director November 1, 1999
Tench Coxe
/s/ Said Mohammadioun Director November 1, 1999

Said Mohammadioun

/s/ Mark A. Johnson Director November 1, 1999

Mark A. Johnson

/s/ Norman N. Behar Director November 1, 1999



Norman N. Behar

</TABLE>



EXHIBIT 5.1

[WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE, PLLC LETTERHEAD]

November 1, 1999

Clarus Corporation
3970 Johns Creek Court
Suwanee, Georgia 30024

Re: Registration Statement on Form S-3
Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have served as counsel for Clarus Corporation, a Delaware corporation
(the "Company"), in connection with the registration under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, pursuant to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-3
(No. 333- ) (the "Registration Statement"), of a proposed public offering
of 488,950 shares (the "Shares") of the Company's authorized common stock,
$.0001 par value (the "Common Stock"), which are to be registered by the Company
for sale by a stockholder of the Company.

We have examined and are familiar with originals or copies (certified or
otherwise identified to our satisfaction) of such documents, corporate records
and other instruments relating to the incorporation of the Company and to the
authorization and issuance of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and the
Shares to be sold by a stockholder as we have deemed necessary and advisable.

Based upon the foregoing and having regard for such legal considerations
that we have deemed relevant, it is our opinion that:

The 488,950 Shares to be registered for and sold by a stockholder were
legally and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

We do hereby consent to the reference to our firm under the heading
"Legal Matters" in the Prospectus contained in the Registration Statement and to
the filing of this Opinion as Exhibit 5.1 thereto.

Respectfully,

WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE, PLLC



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

As independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the inclusion in this
registration statement of our report dated January 29, 1999 (except with respect
to the matter discussed in Note 12 to which the date is October 18, 1999) and to
the incorporation by reference of our report on the supplemental schedule dated
January 29, 1999 included in Clarus Corporation and Subsidiaries (formerly SQL
Financials International, Inc.) Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998,
and to all references to our Firm included in or made a part of this

registration statement.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
October 27, 1999



